
EMERGENCY EVACUATION INSTRUCTIONS 
If you hear the alarm, leave the building immediately.  Follow the green signs.  Use the stairs 
not the lifts.  Do not re-enter the building until told to do so. 

Notice of Meeting 

Executive 
Councillor Bettison OBE (Chair),  
Councillor Dr Barnard (Vice-Chairman),  
Councillors D Birch, Brunel-Walker, Harrison, Mrs Hayes MBE, 
Heydon and Turrell 
Thursday 29 September 2022, 5.00  - 6.00 pm 
Council Chamber - Time Square, Market Street, Bracknell, RG12 
1JD 

 
 

Agenda 
All councillors at this meeting have adopted the Mayor’s Charter  

which fosters constructive and respectful debate. 

Item Description Page 
 
1.  Apologies   
 
2.  Declarations of Interest   

 Members are asked to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary or Affected 
Interests in respect of any matter to be considered at this meeting. 
 
Any Member with a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in a matter should 
withdraw from the meeting when the matter is under consideration and 
should notify the Democratic Services Officer in attendance that they are 
withdrawing as they have such an interest. If the Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest is not entered on the register of Members interests the Monitoring 
Officer must be notified of the interest within 28 days. 
 
Any Member with an Affected Interest in a matter must disclose the interest 
to the meeting.  There is no requirement to withdraw from the meeting when 
the interest is only an affected interest, but the Monitoring Officer should be 
notified of the interest, if not previously notified of it, within 28 days of the 
meeting. 

 

 
3.  Minutes  5 - 8 

 To consider and approve the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 
17 July 2022.  

 

 
4.  Urgent Items of Business   

 Any other items which, pursuant to Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the Chairman decides are urgent. 

 

Executive Key Decisions 

The items listed below all relate to Key Executive decisions, unless stated otherwise below. 
  
5.  Integrated Enforcement Overview and Scrutiny Review  9 - 26 



EMERGENCY EVACUATION INSTRUCTIONS 
If you hear the alarm, leave the building immediately.  Follow the green signs.  Use the stairs 
not the lifts.  Do not re-enter the building until told to do so. 

 To consider the recommendations from the review into Integrated 
Enforcement. The review will explore alternative service delivery models for 
enforcement which can consistently and effectively improve enforcement 
services in Bracknell Forest, but also be flexible enough to respond to 
emerging concerns. 
Reporting: Councillor John Porter 

 

 
6.  National Drug Strategy – From Harm to Hope  27 - 56 

 The National Drug Strategy From Harm to Hope was published in December 
2021. In June 2022 guidance for local delivery partners was publish which 
included a requirement for a new Combating Drugs Partnership to be 
established to ensure that local areas meet all of the requirements set out in 
the strategy. The purpose of this report is to ensure that the Executive are in 
agreement that a Berkshire East Combating Drugs is established 

Reporting: Grainne Siggins 

 

 
7.  Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman's Annual Letter  57 - 62 

 To provide the Executive with a summary and the context for the Local 
Government and Social Care Ombudsman's (LGSCO) annual review letter. 
Reporting: Timothy Wheadon 

 

 
8.  Quarter 1 Council Plan Overview Report  63 - 90 

 To update the Executive on the progress made to deliver the council plan 
objectives. 
Reporting: Timothy Wheadon 

 

 
9.  Exclusion of Public and Press   

 To consider the following motion: 
  
That pursuant to Regulation 4 of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Access to Information) Regulations 2012  and having regard 
to the public interest, members of the public and press be excluded from the 
meeting for the consideration of item 10,11,12 & 13 which involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information under the following category of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972: 
  
(3)        Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 

particular person (including the authority holding that information). 
  
NB:      No representations were received in response to the 28 day notice of 

a private meeting.  

 

 
10.  Allocation of S106 Commuted Sum Monies (Bay House and Barn Close)  91 - 94 

 To approve the spend of secured S106 affordable housing commuted funds 
to support the redevelopment of two Silva Homes sites to create 51 
additional social rented homes for applicants on the Council’s housing 
register 

 



EMERGENCY EVACUATION INSTRUCTIONS 
If you hear the alarm, leave the building immediately.  Follow the green signs.  Use the stairs 
not the lifts.  Do not re-enter the building until told to do so. 

Reporting: Grainne Siggins 
 
11.  Lease of the unit in Princess Square for the Library  95 - 118 

 The provision of a new library and cultural hub in Bracknell town centre 
Reporting: Chris Mansfield 

 

 
12.  Depot (surplus land) Exclusivity period extension  119 - 122 

 Recommendation to extend the exclusivity period granted to Bracknell Forest 
Cambium Partnership for surplus land at the Depot site 
Reporting: Sarah Holman 

 

 
13.  Greening Energy Use Reducing Energy Costs  123 - 126 

 To seek approval for funding a programme of energy greening initiatives 
across the Borough 

Reporting: Kamay Toor 

 

Sound recording, photographing, filming and use of social media is permitted.  Please 
contact Hannah Harding, 01344 352308, hannah.harding@bracknell-forest.gov.uk, so that 
any special arrangements can be made. 
Published: 21 September 2022 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

EXECUTIVE 
19 JULY 2022 
5.00 PM 
  

Present: 
Councillors Dr Barnard (Vice-Chairman, in the Chair), D Birch, Harrison, Heydon and Turrell 
 
Present Virtually: 
Councillors Brunel-Walker and Mrs Hayes MBE 
Apologies for absence were received from: 
Councillors Bettison OBE 
 
Also Present Virtually: 
Councillor Mrs Temperton 
  

26. Declarations of Interest  
There were no declarations of interest. 

27. Minutes  
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Executive on 7 July 2022 together 
with the accompanying decision records be confirmed as a correct record. 

28. Urgent Items of Business  
There were no Urgent Items of Business. 

Executive Decisions and Decision Records 
The Executive considered the following items.  The decisions are recorded in the 
decision sheets attached to these minutes and summarised below: 

29. Revenue Expenditure Outturn 2021/22  
RESOLVED that 
 

i. the outturn expenditure for 2021/22, subject to audit, of £72.992m, which 
represents an under spend of -£1.020m compared with the approved budget 
is noted. 
 

ii. the budget carry forwards of £1.035m (see paragraph 5.8 and Annexe C) are 
approved.  

 
RECOMMENDED that Council  
 

i. notes the Treasury Management performance in 2021/22 as set out in 
Annexe B. 
 

5

Agenda Item 3



 

 

ii. Approves the earmarked reserves as set out in Annexe D. 
 

iii. Approves the virements relating to the 2021/22 budget (see Annexe E). 

30. Capital Expenditure Outturn 2021/22  
RESOLVED that 
 

i. the outturn capital expenditure as outlined in Table 1 and detailed in Annex A 
is noted. 
 

ii. the carry forward of £21.713m from the 2021/22 capital programme to 
2022/23 including those specific schemes listed in Annexe B is approved.  
 

iii. the financing of capital expenditure as shown in Table 3 is noted. 
 

iv. the additional High Needs Provision Capital Allocation grant as noted in para 
5.11 is approved.  

31. Corporate Business Change Programme  
RESOLVED that the Executive endorses the refocussed Business Change and 
Transformation programme as set out in Annex A, recognising that there will need to 
be flexibility to adjust the programme as necessary in response to changing 
circumstances. 

32. Council Plan Overview Report  
RESOLVED that the performance of the council over the period from January to 
March 2022 highlighted in the Overview Report is noted. 

33. Exclusion of Public and Press  
RESOLVED that pursuant to Regulation 21 of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Access to Information) Regulations 2000, members of the public and 
press be excluded from the meeting for the consideration of item 10 which involves 
the likely disclosure of exempt information under the following category of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972: 
 
(3) Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 

(including the authority). 

34. Berkshire Community Equipment Service - Section 75 Agreement  
RESOLVED that 
 

i. Bracknell Forest Council continue membership of the S75 Joint Agreement for 
a maximum period of five years. Following this period continued membership 
of the S75 will be reviewed and presented to the Executive for consideration 
and recommendation. 
 

ii. Bracknell Forest Council to continue to participate as a partner in the 
Berkshire Community Equipment Service Steering Group in order to develop 
and agree a route to market for the re-commissioning of the BCES, and to be 
part of the joint procurement exercise for community equipment services as 
led by West Berkshire Council. 

6



 

 

 
iii. authority be delegated to the Executive Director: People in liaison with The 

Executive Member for Adult Services, Health and Housing and the Executive 
Member for Children, Young People and Learning to consider and then 
approve the route to market noting that once approval has been given by the 
Executive to the recommendations in this report, then the joint procurement 
will proceed as led by West Berkshire Council. 
 

iv. The approval will be subject to review by Bracknell Forest Council 
procurement and legal teams to ensure compliance to Procurement 
Regulations 2015 and for this condition to be made clear in communications 
with West Berkshire Council. This caveat is required because West Berkshire 
have yet to provide details of the planned procurement process. 
 

v. the recommendations from this report to be shared with the lead authority, 
West Berkshire Council, so they are fully informed as to the limits of the 
authority obtained for this procurement 

CHAIRMAN 

7



This page is intentionally left blank



To: Executive 
20 September 2022 

  
 

Overview and Scrutiny Review of Integrated Enforcement Report 
Councillor Porter, Chair Environment and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

1 Purpose of Report 

1.1 To present the Executive with the findings of the Environment and Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel’s review into enforcement services which have been 
endorsed by the Overview & Scrutiny Commission, and to seek approval of the 
Panel’s recommendations. 

1.2 To provide the advice of the Statutory Scrutiny Officer (SSO) to inform the 
Executive’s decision whether to agree the Panel’s recommendations. 

2 Recommendations 

2.1 That the Executive considers whether to agree the Environment and 
Communities Overview & Scrutiny Panel’s recommendations as set out in the 
Panel report (attached as Appendix A) and paragraph 5.7 of this report, taking 
into account the comments of the Statutory Scrutiny Officer. 

3 Reasons for Recommendation 

3.1 The Environment and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel concluded their 
findings based on the evidence considered and review that was undertaken. The 
review report is attached as Appendix A. 

3.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Commission has endorsed the review recommendations, 
taking into account the review report and the views of the Statutory Scrutiny Officer.  

3.3 The comments from the relevant officer set out in paragraph 7 of this report do not 
indicate any concerns with the proposed recommendations. 

4 Alternative Options 

4.1 The Executive could decide: 

• to agree the recommendations as set out in the Panel’s report 
• to agree the recommendation in part 
• to ask for further work to be undertaken recognising that this would delay the 

Panel’s next piece of work 
• to note the Panel report  

5 Supporting Information from the Statutory Scrutiny Officer 

5.1 It is the role of the SSO to advise the Council on any issues or concerns that may 
arise about the operation of the scrutiny function and the SSO may on occasion be 
required to make a determination about what the law says and how this should be 
applied to any particular situation.  In carrying out this statutory role, there is a need 

9

Agenda Item 5



to have a nuanced and meaningful understanding of the scrutiny function in order to 
accurately make judgments about its operation when disagreements or other issues 
arise. 

5.2 The SSO is responsible for ensuring that the scrutiny function is adequately 
resourced and that service departments and partners are contributing sufficiently to 
reviews to ensure that they are effective. 

5.3 The SSO is also responsible for providing advice to the Commission and Executive 
on whether the recommendations within review reports are robust, taking account of 
resource, legal, climate change, equalities, health and wellbeing and strategic risk 
implications. 

5.4 The Overview and Scrutiny Commission commissioned the Environment and 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel to carry out a review into integrated 
enforcement as part of the overview and scrutiny four-year work programme, which 
has been developed to track themes within the new Council Plan. 

5.5 In support of this review, a broad range of witnesses gave evidence putting the Panel 
in a good position to use this intelligence to frame the review and produce insightful 
recommendations. 

5.6 The Panel was supported by Joey Gurney, Governance and Scrutiny Officer who 
supported the Panel to draw up the scope of the review and prepare an evidence 
pack of relevant information; to facilitate a number of Panel sessions to interview a 
range of contributors; to draw out findings from the Panel’s investigation, and to 
prepare a review report.  This involved in the region of 300 hours of scrutiny officer 
time and 12 hours of Panel meetings.   

5.7 The Commission considered the Panel’s recommendations on 1 September and 
endorsed them for referral to the Executive. The reasons for making these 
recommendations are set out in the Panel report. These recommendations are: 

 
1. Introduce the Community Safety Accreditation Scheme (CSAS) as a new 
standard:   

• Provide appropriate officers with training, ensuring they become 
accredited.    

• Encourage other appropriate officers to participate in becoming 
accredited where practical and where resource is available.  

                  
                 The scheme should be introduced by January 2023.  
   

2. Introduce an allocation process where a team or officer is assigned as the 
lead for the duration of an enforcement case. This should be achieved by 
November 2022.  

  
3. Develop enforcement strategies encouraging greater collaboration across 
services and with partners. This will be an ongoing process but an update on its 
progress will be expected in 12 months’ time. It is recognised progress may be 
impacted by the outcomes of the Panel’s upcoming review of the Council’s 
enforcement strategies.  

  
4. Run regular educational and awareness campaigns on enforcement policies 
and activities for residents. This includes information campaigns on CSAS as it is 
introduced. Good enforcement should also be publicised and celebrated, 

10



particularly when it involves a joint working approach. This will be an ongoing 
process but an update on its progress will be expected in 12 months’ time.  

  
5.8 In endorsing the Panel’s recommendations the Commission also took account of the 

Statutory Scrutiny Officer’s views. In summary, these were that this review activity 
had adequate resources and that the service departments contributed effectively to 
the review. The bulk of review activity took place between February and May 2022 
and the review was slightly delayed due to scheduling challenges. The comments 
from the relevant officer set out below do not indicate any concerns with the 
proposed recommendations. 

6 Commentary from Environment and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
Chair, Councillor John Porter  

6.1 During this review it quickly became apparent how vast and complex enforcement 
can be. By its nature, enforcement in a local authority setting often requires 
collaboration between teams, services, and/or external partners. Therefore, the 
Panel wanted to explore whether a development of this collaborative approach, in the 
form of a more integrated model, could help to improve existing enforcement in the 
Bracknell Forest area. This was achieved by looking at the current enforcement 
structures and policies at the Council whilst exploring a range of best practices 
relating to integrated enforcement at other local authorities. 

6.2 By using the opportunity to speak to different local authorities about their own 
approach to enforcement, panel members have deepened their understanding of 
what good enforcement looks like and how this is reflected in council policy and 
activity. It was also particularly useful for the Panel to learn more on the Community 
Safety Accreditation Scheme by speaking with Thames Valley Police, and to learn of 
the productive partnerships the Council has with other enforcement actors such as 
the Police and the Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue Service. 

6.3 It was encouraging to discover that the Council is working hard to tackle well known 
issues associated with enforcement and it was pleasing to learn that a joint working 
approach across services and with external partners is often adopted by officers. The 
recommendations put forward by the Panel aim to further enhance these efforts to 
work collaboratively to ensure Bracknell Forest is a safer, cleaner and happier place 
to live.    

 
7 Response from Assistant Director for Contract Services 
 
7.1 There are a number of teams, in different departments across the Council that 

provide enforcement services and the panel heard evidence from them. As one of 
those teams we have been engaged throughout the scrutiny review process which 
has enabled us to share our good practice with the panel.  

 
7.2 The opportunity to present evidence of current enforcement work and share potential 

options for the future has been invaluable so that Councillors appreciate the 
complexity and breadth of enforcement activity.     

 
8 Consultation and Other Considerations 

Legal Advice 

11



8.1 There are no specific legal implications arising from the recommendations in this 
report. 

Financial Advice 

8.2 Any actions arising from the recommendations are expected to be delivered within 
existing budgets.  

Equalities Impact Assessment 

8.3 The review scope, activities and recommendations were all considered in the initial 
equalities screening attached at Appendix B.  

Strategic Risk Management Issues  

8.4 The implications of poor enforcement performance would be reputational damage for 
the Council as there would be a potential for increased levels of low level and anti-
social crime, an inability to protect our highly valued green spaces and appearance of 
residential communities. At the same time this would undermine the basis of formal 
application and approvals processes described within the attached report.  

Climate Change Implications 

8.5 The recommendations in Section 2 and 5 above are expected to have no impact on 
emissions of CO2 because there is no suggested increase in activity or travel that 
would generate a change.  

Health & Wellbeing Considerations 

8.6 The Council is committed to actively protecting and enhancing the borough’s 
environment to keep it clean and green through enforcement. This supports Bracknell 
Forest being one of the heathiest places to live. Residents will therefore experience 
better health, both physical and mental. 

Background Papers 
None 
 
 
Contact for further information 
Kevin Gibbs, Statutory Scrutiny Officer - 01344 355621 
kevin.gibbs@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
 
Joey Gurney, Governance & Scrutiny Officer – 01344 351743 
joey.gurney@bracknell-forest.gv.uk 
 

12

mailto:kevin.gibbs@bracknell-forest.gov.uk
mailto:joey.gurney@bracknell-forest.gv.uk


 

  Overview and Scrutiny Panel Report 
 
REVIEW TITLE O&S PANEL DATE 
Integrated Enforcement Environment and Communities 1 September 2022 

 
“During this review it quickly became apparent how vast 
and complex enforcement can be.  Nonetheless, it was 
encouraging to discover that the Council is working hard 
to tackle well known issues associated with enforcement 
and that a joint working approach is often adopted by 
officers.  By using the opportunity to speak to different 
local authorities about their own approach to 
enforcement, panel members have deepened their 
understanding of what good enforcement looks like and 
how this is reflected in council policy and activity, which 
can help to further strengthen enforcement at Bracknell 
Forest Council” 
 
Councillor John Porter,  
Chair: Environment and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
 

  Recommendations  
 

1. Introduce the Community Safety Accreditation Scheme (CSAS) as a new standard:  
- Provide appropriate officers with training, ensuring they become accredited.   
- Encourage other appropriate officers to participate in becoming accredited where 

practical and where resource is available.  
The scheme should be introduced by January 2023. 
 

2. Introduce an allocation process where a team or officer is assigned as the lead for the 
duration of an enforcement case. This should be achieved by November 2022.  
 

3. Develop enforcement strategies encouraging greater collaboration across services and 
with partners. This will be an ongoing process but an update on its progress will be 
expected in 12 months’ time. It is recognised progress may be impacted by the outcomes 
of the Panel’s upcoming review of the Council’s enforcement strategies.  

 
4. Run regular educational and awareness campaigns on enforcement policies and 

activities for residents. This includes information campaigns on CSAS as it is introduced. 
Good enforcement should also be publicised and celebrated, particularly when it involves 
a joint working approach. This will be an ongoing process but an update on its progress 
will be expected in 12 months’ time.  

  Key findings 
 
The Panel found that:  
 
▪ Joint working is often necessary during enforcement cases. A proactive attitude is adopted 

by Bracknell Forest officers when crossover between teams is required.  
▪ There was evidence of productive partnerships with external agencies when carrying out 

enforcement activities  
▪ The Public Protection Partnership enables the Council to be flexible and resilient when 

responding to emerging crises and provides greater access to enforcement specialist areas 13



 

▪ CSAS is a useful enforcement tool available to local authorities that provides additional 
powers to an approved officer while further improving relationships with the police by 
enhancing intelligence sharing.  

▪ There is no one size fits all integrated enforcement model available to local authorities 
▪ Integration of enforcement services is not judged by senior officers or the lead Executive 

members to be beneficial financially or structurally 

  Introduction  
 
For local authorities, enforcement covers a wide range of services across various departments, 
organisations, and agencies. Local authorities regularly have to tackle difficult issues often 
associated with enforcement such as lengthy delays caused by complex cases, public 
misinformation and rapidly emerging crises. Some of these problems are likely to be exacerbated 
due to increasing financial constraints on local councils.  
 

Financial implications are highlighted throughout the report using this symbol.  
 
By its nature, enforcement in this context often requires collaboration between teams, services, 
and/or external partners. It is not unusual for an enforcement case to require crossover between 
departments and interventions from external organisations such as the police or fire service. 
Therefore, it is important a collaborative culture exists between all enforcement actors.  
 
As part of this review, the Environment and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel wanted to 
explore whether a development of this collaborative approach, in the form of a more integrated 
model, could help to improve existing enforcement in Bracknell Forest. This would be achieved by 
looking at the current enforcement structures and policies at the Council while exploring a range of 
best practices relating to integrated enforcement from other local authorities.  
 
Throughout the review the Panel recognised that the range of services and enforcement activities 
that could be considered was vast and varied. Unregulated activity had the impact of being anti-
social, affecting local communities and impacting on community safety. In order to remain within the 
scope for this review, as originally commissioned by the Overview and Scrutiny Commission, the 
Panel focussed on those aspects which fell within the 'protecting and enhancing our environment' 
theme of the Council Plan, and not the 'communities' theme in which the phrase 'community safety' 
referred to activities to maintain good public order, reduce anti-social behaviour and combat drug 
related crime therefore, the council’s Community Safety Team was out of scope.  
 
The Panel identified and interviewed senior officers from Bracknell Forest Council including the 
Executive Director of Place, Planning and Regeneration, Assistant Director of Contract Services and 
the Head of the Public Protection Partnership, in addition to officers from partner organisations such 
as the Local Fire Authority and Thames Valley Police. Desk top analysis of policies and other 
relevant documents was also conducted by the Panel.  
 
As part of the Panel’s work on best practice in terms of enforcement they spoke to officers and 
looked at policies from other borough councils who have introduced different variations of an 
integrated enforcement model. This included interviewing the Assistant Director of Community 
Safety and Environmental Health from the Royal Borough of Greenwich who oversaw the 
implementation of the integrated enforcement model at Greenwich. 

 
Good practice is highlighted throughout this report using this symbol.  

 

  Review findings 
 

Place, Planning and Regeneration 
 
Enforcement is undertaken through: 

14



 

• Planning enforcement as a mechanism to uphold the integrity of the wider planning system 
to protect the public, businesses and the environment from unauthorised development and 
its harmful impacts. Potential breaches are examined and appropriate action determined by 
the Planning team.  

• Building Control officers use the powers to impose fines for contraventions of the Building 
Regulations and to remove or alter offending building work as appropriate, subject to a 
successful prosecution.  

• The Highways and Transport team manage: 
o street work permit enforcement and issue penalty fines for non-compliance or over-

run-on road space  
o overgrown vegetation notices, highway obstruction, failure to maintain ditches to 

recover all costs if there is a failure to comply 
o Advanced Payment Code (APC) notices, securing bond against unfinished new roads 

(debt applied to Land Charges Register) 
 
Officers with enforcement powers:  
  

Building control officers  

Planning enforcement officers  

Highway works inspectors  

 
Enforcement duties are carried out as part of different engineering roles, requiring a range of 
different skillsets. Some of these roles are only part enforcement focused and so have other 
functions. Enforcement staffing is therefore difficult to quantify. The Panel were advised that income 
in terms of fines was hard to quantity and varied, but the revenue income was very low.  
 
Parking  
 
Bracknell Forest Council is responsible for 
parking enforcement on its streets and in its 
car parks using the civil parking enforcement 
powers provided by the Traffic Management 
Act 2004. It is also responsible for the 
operation and management of the Council 
owned car parks and both these functions are 
undertaken by contractors (NSL Ltd) working 
on behalf of the Council. Revenue to the 
Council for Penalty Charge Notices (PCNs) is 
approximately £65k per year. 
 

NSL Ltd: 
 

• distinctive blue uniforms 
• an identification number and 

badge  
• serve PCNs to vehicles parked 

illegally 
• do not get incentives for issuing 

tickets enforce parking 
regulations: 

• PCNs processed end to end by 
NSL 

  NSL Contracted Staff  

Civic Enforcement Officers 
Cleaners  
Supervisor  
Senior Supervisor 
Client Account Manager  

 
15



 

It is recognised by senior officers and by the Executive portfolio holder that the contract with NSL 
has seen improvements in parking enforcement within the borough. The Panel was also pleased to 
discover postal PCNs had recently been introduced as a means of allowing officers to issue tickets 
quicker.  
 

In response to Covid-19 restrictions, NSL provided the Council with Covid 
Ambassadors to advise and support members of the public and businesses on 
following social distancing rules. Their success was recognised last year when 
Bracknell Forest Council and NSL were given a British Parking Award in the ‘a 
positive response to the pandemic’ category. 

 
 
Public Protection Partnership 
 
The Public Protection Partnership (PPP) is a shared service delivering Environmental Health, 
Licensing and Trading Standards on behalf of two authorities Bracknell Forest Council and West 
Berkshire Council.  
 
These services encompass a wide range of areas of responsibility.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The PPP’s priorities are informed by the assessment of evidence from across a wide range of 
sources which include assessment of resident concerns, council and national priorities as well as 
emerging issues.  
 
The priorities of the PPP are: 

• community protection 
• protecting and improving health 
• protection of the environment 
• supporting prosperity and economic growth 
• effective and improving service delivery  
• partnership working. 

 
Senior officers explained that the PPP aims to make it clear how they operate and show why it does 
the work it does as they identify communication and transparency as key to the partnership’s 
success. They explained that each project undertaken should be linked back to an evidence-based 
approach.  
 
There are approximately 100 officers covering the Bracknell Forest and West Berkshire areas. Being 
part of the PPP provides the Council with not only greater resilience when resources are stretched 
but also greater access to specialist officers. There is also a shared Trading Standards Service with 
Wokingham who also buy into the PPP case management and intelligence functions. Due to the 

• Air quality management                                   
• Animal warden
• Animal welfare
• Contaminated land
• Communicable diseases
• Community education
• Community mediation
• Consumer advice
• Environmental nuisance 

protection
• Fair trading
• Financial investigations
• Fraud and counterfeiting
• Food safety
• Gambling
• Health and safety at work

• Health promotion
• Industrial pollution
• Licensing
• Metrology
• Overloaded vehicles
• Pest control
• Petroleum and explosives
• Primary Authority
• Private sector housing
• Product safety
• Public health
• Rogue trading
• Scams
• Taxi licensing
• Underage sales 
• Water supplies

16



 

nature of these types of enforcement services it would be difficult to further integrate them. To keep 
services as they are within the PP would be cost effective for the Council.  
 

The PPP have their own case management function who have had a high 
level of success in pursuing criminal actions. These have resulted in 
publicity which in turn acts as a deterrent for to those considering 
offending. Therefore, it is recommended that good enforcement across 
the Council is regularly publicised for the reasons set out above. It is also 
recommended that the Council develops the PPP’s drive for transparency 
by ensuring regular educational campaigns on enforcement are run for 
residents. This will help to tackle local misinformation on enforcement 
while increasing awareness of rules and regulations across the borough.  

 
Services under the PPP were put under immense pressure during the Covid-19 pandemic. Due to 
its fluidity in structure and design the service was able to adapt and react to the challenges the crisis 
saw emerge. Covid is just one such example of a fast-emerging issue from over the years that have 
required the PPP to not only be flexible but resilient and resourceful too. Other examples include the 
Foot and Mouth outbreaks in the 2000’s. By design the PPP must be able to adjust its plans for such 
eventualities and the partnership has so far proved itself to be responsive when faced with quickly 
changing demands. 
 
A Joint Working Approach 
 
Enforcement cases often require crossover between teams and services and the Panel discovered 
this is regularly the case within the borough. For example, teams across services of the Council 
often work together on ‘problem sites’ – particular sites that have been identified as having multiple 
sets of enforcement related issues.  Officers from different services will coordinate and seek to work 
closely by meeting regularly to tackle ‘problem sites’.  
 
Teams within the PPP regularly coordinate with other officers at Bracknell Forest Council. PPP 
officers within environmental health will work closely with the Council’s Highways and the Planning 
teams on issues of air quality. For instance, the PPP is working closely with Civil Enforcement 
Officers to tackle car idling near schools. On issues concerning street trading, appropriate officers 
from the PPP’s licensing team will collaborate with officers from Highways and Planning. Examples 
of joint working between officers from the PPP and from the Council are not limited to these two and 
the Panel was pleased to hear there were many more.  
 
External Partnerships 
 
Bracknell Forest Council has a good working relationship with the Local Fire Authority. On 
enforcement the Council has signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with Royal Berkshire 
Fire Authority (RBFRS), alongside other borough councils in the county. The objective of the MoU is 
to ensure appropriate standards of fire safety and other safety provisions are provided and 
maintained in high and medium rise flats common to both the local authority and RBFRS areas. It 
also aims to establish a joint working team to carry out joint inspections.  
 
Due to the specialist issues the different teams cover within the three main areas of the PPP, they 
regularly coordinate with a wide range of other partners outside the Council.  
 

 
 

17



 

Fly tipping has increasingly become a challenging issue both nationally and locally. In the Bracknell 
area there are, on average, 25 reports a week of fly tipping.  In response, the PPP has recruited an 
enviro-crime officer as well as introduced CCTV at local hotspots. In addition to this, the PPP has 
worked alongside several Thames Valley teams, The Driver and Vehicle Standards Agency and 
HMRC on operations designed to tackle a variety of enforcement issues, including fly tipping. As a 
result of these campaigns there are now currently a significant number of enviro-crime related 
investigations being undertaken and several files are with the PPP case management unit for 
progressing through to court.  
 
Integrated Enforcement at other local authorities  
 
The Panel quickly discovered the term integrated enforcement can be interpreted in many ways, 
particularly in a local authority setting. For some authorities it can mean the merging of all 
enforcement services together under one structure while for others it could simply mean the 
introduction of a single integrated enforcement policy. This is because enforcement can be highly 
complex and so there isn’t a ‘one size fits all’ model. 
 
By speaking to the Assistant Director of Community Safety at the Royal Borough of Greenwich, the 
Panel discovered Greenwich had recently adopted what was described as a ‘hybrid model’. At 
Greenwich integrated enforcement was reflected not only in their approach to enforcement but they 
also have a more integrated service design in order to reduce delays caused by silo working. Most 
enforcement cases will require some crossover between services, and this can cause unnecessary 
delays as cases are often ‘ping-ponged’ back and forth between teams. To tackle this, Greenwich 
has introduced a process where a team will take ownership from start to finish of a case, ensuring 
they regularly follow up cases once they are with different teams. Responsibility for an enforcement 
case is decided on a case-by-case basis.  
 

The Royal Borough of Greenwich has received several plaudits for its joint 
enforcement work, including a Met Police Excellence Award 2021 for ‘Safer 
Neighbourhood Team of the Year’ due to its outstanding productivity, performance, 
and partnership working.  

 
Other local authorities such as Spelthorne Borough Council and Reigate and Banstead Borough 
Council have introduced a Joint Enforcement Team (JET). The JETs see council officers working 
collectively with the police to combat local issues such as noise, anti-social behaviour and low-level 
crime. The JET team at Reigate and Banstead Borough Council is made up of five CSAS accredited 
officers. They act as a point of contact and have been described as “enforcement coordinators”. 
Most of their cases are related to environmental crime.  
  

Good enforcement practices shared by all the aforementioned borough councils 
include:  
• Regular formal meetings between all enforcement teams to reflect and review 

ongoing enforcement challenges as well as share relevant intelligence  
• A collaborative culture exists. Officers actively seek to work closer with internal 

and external partners to ensure cases are solved both efficiently and quickly 
• An enforcement officer usually takes responsibility of a case from start until finish 

to avoid delays caused by silo working 
 
It is recommended that the Council introduces an allocation process where a 
team or officer is assigned as the lead for the duration of an enforcement case. 
It is also recommended that the Council develops enforcement strategies that 
encourage greater collaboration across services and with partners. Upon 
strengthening their knowledge of good enforcement practices at other local 
authorities the Panel feel these recommendations will complement and 
enhance existing enforcement activities within the borough.  

 
A further consideration highlighted during the Panel’s work on integrated enforcement at other 
Councils is the importance of Executive Members’ and Officers’ buy-in to an integrated enforcement 
model as a means of improving local enforcement.  
 18



 

CSAS 
The Community Safety Accreditation Scheme (CSAS) allows organisations and their employees to 
be given targeted police powers by the Chief Constable. There are currently over 40 powers 
available to an Accredited Person which are set out in Schedule 5 of the Police Reform Act 2002. 
These include issuing fixed penalty notices for various low level offences, power to control traffic and 
the power to require giving of name and address. 
 
The Chief Inspector advised the Panel that the CSAS allows for greater partnership working 
between the police and local organisations. The scheme creates a framework for public and private 
bodies to work in partnership with the police, providing additional uniformed presence in 
communities and capitalising on the skills and information captured by those already engaged with 
the community. 
 

Benefits of CSAS 

 Allows for a closer working relationship between the Council and TVP 

 Raises priority of community safety 

 Increasing uniformed presence on the streets 

 Reductions in a range of local issues such as street drinking and dog fouling 

 Public reassurance 

 Enhanced intelligence sharing 

 Save police valuable time 

 
Thames Valley Police have seen council schemes introduced at Cherwell District Council and Royal 
Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Council. Both have accredited warden schemes which are 
working well. Furthermore, the CSAS accredited JET officers at Spelthorne have experienced some 
success with the scheme. As a result of enforcement officers having CSAS powers, they have been 
able to ensure convictions for serial fly-tippers and the seizure of fly-tippers vehicles. 
 
 Registration CSAS costs are as below: 
          Organisation fee for set up: nil 
          Individual fee: £75 per person for Level 2 Vetting (usually valid for 3 years)  
 
Further to an application, the staff seeking accreditation will be required to undergo police vetting 
checks and complete a CSAS training course with an approved training provider, before they can be 
accredited.  The cost of the training will be met by the organisation seeking accreditation.  The 
training will cover the specific powers that are being requested together with other elements such as 
personal safety and conflict resolution. Costs for the training course vary depending on the provider, 
also the number of employees, no of power being accredited. CSAS training lasts for 5-7 days.  
 
It is a police decision which powers would be appropriate after close consultation between the 
organisation and the police. They will need to consider: 
 
CSAS Considerations 
 
 

 Organisation applying has a satisfactory complaints procedure 

19



 

 The organisation applying has a fit and proper supervisory/management structure to 
oversee the accredited person 

 The organisation must be suitable to exercise the accredited powers 

 The organisation applying has a fit and proper supervisory/management structure to 
oversee the accredited person 

 The organisation must be suitable to exercise the accredited powers 

 The employee must be capable of executing the tasks provided by the accredited powers 

 The employee must have received appropriate CSAS training – this is the employer’s 
responsibility  

 
It is recommended that the CSAS is introduced at Bracknell Forest Council. 
By doing so officers will be able to further strengthen their joint working 
approach while reassuring residents the Council aims to ensure the borough 
is a safer, cleaner and happier borough to live in. Any introduction of the 
CSAS must be accompanied by a public awareness campaign of the scheme.  

Financial considerations  
These recommendations will mean additional responsibilities are to be added to existing employees’ 
workloads.  
 
All costs (including training) will be contained within existing budgets but if they exceed these they 
will be highlighted as budget pressures and additional funding will be requested as part of the 
annual budget cycle. Some costs may well be offset through additional income gained by 
enforcement activity.  
 
  

20



 

Review Panel 
Councillor Angell Councillor Mrs Ingham 

Councillor Allen Councillor Kirke 

Councillor Brossard Councillor Mrs McKenzie-Boyle (Vice 
chair) 

Councillor Brown Councillor Porter (Chair) 

Councillor Ms Gaw Also attending: Councillor Temperton 

Contributers to the review 

Andrew Hunter Executive Director: Place, Planning and Regeneration, 
Bracknell Forest Council  

Damian James Assistant Director: Contract Services, Bracknell Forest 
Council 

Sean Murphy  Head of Public Protection Partnership  

Louise Watkins Head of Service: Parking Management & Leisure, Bracknell 
Forest Council 

Alison Beynon Strategic Manager, Public Protection Partnership 

Helen Kenny Chief Inspector, Thames Valley Police 

Sean McDermid Assistant Director: Community Safety & Environmental 
Health, Royal Borough of Greenwich 

Councillor Colin Dudley Chairman, Royal Berkshire Fire Authority 

Wayne Bowcock Chief Fire Officer, Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue Service 

Tregear Thomas Area Manager, Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue Service 

Councillor John Harrison Executive Member for Culture, Delivery and Public 
Protection 

Councillor Chris Turrell Executive Member for Planning & Transport 

Ben Murray Senior Manager for Regulatory Services, Reigate and 
Banstead Borough Council  

Martin Cole Neighbourhoods Manager, Spelthorne Borough Council 

Joey Gurney  Governance and Scrutiny Officer, Bracknell Forest Council 

 

21



This page is intentionally left blank



Initial Equalities Screening Record Form 
 

Date of Screening: May 2022 
and updated following the 
review recommendations in 
June 2022 

Directorate: Delivery Section: Democracy and Governance 

1.  Activity to be assessed Overview and Scrutiny Panel for Environment and Communities review into Integrated Enforcement. This review will consult 
with witnesses from local enforcement partners, council officers and representatives from other local authorities. 

 

2.  What is the activity?  Policy/strategy    Function/procedure     Project     Review     Service    Organisational change 

3.  Is it a new or existing activity?  New  

4.  Officer responsible for the screening Joey Gurney, Governance & Scrutiny Officer 

5.  Who are the members of the screening team? Joey Gurney, Paris O'Keeffe-Johnston, Cllr Porter, Cllr Mrs McKenzie-Boyle   

6.  What is the purpose of the activity? The purpose of the activity is to determine whether a more integrated approach to enforcement could lead to improvements 
across Bracknell Forest.  

7.  Who is the activity designed to benefit/target?  All residents. 

Protected Characteristics 

 

Please 
tick 

yes or 
no 

Is there an impact? 

  

What evidence do you have to support this? 

 

8. Disability Equality – this can include physical, 
mental health, learning or sensory disabilities and 
includes conditions such as dementia as well as 
hearing or sight impairment. 

 N No impact identified.  The recommendations will not impact disability equality 
but should have an overall positive impact on all groups 
by improving enforcement structures and activities. 

9.  Racial equality  
 

 N N No impact identified. 

 

The recommendations will not impact racial equality but 
should have an overall positive impact on all groups by 
improving enforcement structures and activities. 

10. Gender equality  
 

 N No impact identified. The recommendations will not impact gender equality 
but should have an overall positive impact on all groups 
by improving enforcement structures and activities. 

11. Sexual orientation equality 

 
 N No impact identified.  The recommendations will not impact on sexual 

orientation equality but should have an overall positive 

23



impact on all groups by improving enforcement 
structures and activities.  

12. Gender re-assignment 
 

 N No impact identified. The recommendations will not impact on gender re-
assignment equality but should have an overall positive 
impact on all groups by improving enforcement 
structures and activities. 

13. Age equality  
 

 N No impact identified. The recommendations will not impact on age equality 
but should have an overall positive impact on all groups 
by improving enforcement structures and activities.  

14. Religion and belief equality  
 

 N No impact identified. The recommendations will not impact on religion and 
belief equality but should have an overall positive impact 
on all groups by improving enforcement structures and 
activities.  

15. Pregnancy and maternity equality   N No impact identified. The recommendations will not impact on pregnancy and 
maternity equality but should have an overall positive 
impact on all groups by improving enforcement 
structures and activities.  

16. Marriage and civil partnership equality   N No impact identified. The recommendations will not impact on marriage or 
civil partnership equality but should have an overall 
positive impact on all groups by improving enforcement 
structures and activities.  

17. Please give details of any other potential 
impacts on any other group (e.g. those on lower 
incomes/carers/ex-offenders, armed forces 
communities) and on promoting good community 
relations. 

No other impact has been identified.  

18.  If an adverse/negative impact has been 
identified can it be justified on grounds of 
promoting equality of opportunity for one group or 
for any other reason? 

N/A 

19. If there is any difference in the impact of the 
activity when considered for each of the equality 
groups listed in 8 – 14 above; how significant is the 
difference in terms of its nature and the number of 
people likely to be affected? 

N/A 

20. Could the impact constitute unlawful 
discrimination in relation to any of the Equality 
Duties? 

 N  

24



21.  What further information or data is required to 
better understand the impact? Where and how can 
that information be obtained? 

 

We considered a wide range of data from local and national sources. This was collated in an evidence pack which is 
available on BFC website.  

 

 

22.  On the basis of sections 7 – 17 above is a full 
impact assessment required?  

 N  

23. If a full impact assessment is not required; what actions will you take to reduce or remove any potential differential/adverse impact, to further promote equality of 
opportunity through this activity or to obtain further information or data?  Please complete the action plan in full, adding more rows as needed. 

Action Timescale Person Responsible Milestone/Success Criteria 

See recommendations contained in report. 

 

 

 

 

Cllr Porter 

 

 

Recommendations are endorsed by the O&S Commission and 
agreed by the Executive. 

24.  Which service, business or work plan will these actions be 
included in? 

Overview & Scrutiny Commission work plan 

25. Please list the current actions undertaken to advance 
equality or examples of good practice identified as part of the 
screening? 

Please see recommendations contained in the report. 

26. Assistant director’s signature. Signature:                                                                                               Date: 27 June 2022 

 
 

25



T
his page is intentionally left blank



To: Executive 
20th September 2022  

  
 

National Drug Strategy  
Executive Director: People   

1 Purpose of Report 

1.1 To advise the Executive of the content of the National Drug Strategy, From Harm to 
Hopei and request agreement in respect of the recommendations contained within 
this report. 

1.2 To advise the Executive of the content of the National Drug Strategy Guidance for 
Local Delivery Partners which was published in June 2022ii and sets out the 
requirements in respect of delivering against the priorities in the National Drug 
Strategy and the requirement to establish a Combating Drugs Partnership (CDP). 

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 That the Executive discusses and makes recommendations in respect of the 
geographical footprint of the CDP.  The options for this are: 

• A Thames Valley wide partnership – the benefits of such a partnership 
would be senior level representation from Thames Valley Police, the 
National Probation Service and the Police and Crime Commissioner.  
However the geographical size of such a partnership would make it 
difficult to have a local focus and would also more than one Integrated 
Care Partnership. 

• A pan Berkshire Partnership – whilst this would afford closer 
partnership working across Berkshire, there would also be an issue in 
respect of the Integrated Care Partnerships covering East and West 
Berkshire.  Public Health in Berkshire West have indicated that this 
would not be their preferred option 

• A Berkshire East Partnership – this is our preferred option due to the 
co-terminosity of the Integrated Care Partnership and Public Health 
functions. 

2.2 That the appointment of Stuart Lines as the Senior Responsible Officer who 
will represent the Combatting Drugs Partnership and account for local delivery 
and performance to central government be endorsed. 

2.3  That the Executive recommends that a temporary partnership post is 
developed to support the establishment of the Berkshire East CDP the 
development of the terms of reference.  The post holder would also undertake 
a needs assessment for Berkshire East and develop a strategy on how the 
partnership will deliver against the priorities in the national drug strategy 

2.4 That the Executive agree to establish a Local Drug Strategy Delivery 
Partnership which will oversee the delivery of the local drug strategy and 
report on progress to the Berkshire East CDP.  

2.5      That the Leader be requested to appoint the member representative on the 
Combatting Drugs Partnership. 

27

Agenda Item 6



3 Reasons for Recommendation(S) 

3.1 The strategy requires local areas in England to have a strong partnership that brings 
together all the relevant organisations and key individuals.  The CDP will be 
responsible for reporting directly into central government and will have an appointed 
SRO.  The SRO should occupy one of the following roles: 

➢ PCC 
➢ Local authority elected leader 
➢ Elected Mayor 
➢ Local authority chief executive 
➢ Director of relevant local authority department (e.g. public health, adults/children's 

social care, housing) 
➢ Regional probation director 
➢ Integrated Care Board (ICB) chief executive 
➢ Senior police officer 

3.2 Locally we will need to agree whether we establish a Thames Valley, Berkshire East 
or Pan Berkshire CDP. Best value and economies of scale should be considered in 
making this decision.   

3.3 Whilst the CDP will be responsible for overseeing delivery against the priorities of the 
drug strategy they will not be a decision making partnership.  We will therefore need 
a local delivery partnership that can fulfil that role and report progress to the 
Berkshire East CDP. 

4 Alternative Options Considered 

4.1 The Guidance for local delivery partners make it clear that an entirely new CDP 
needs to be established in local areas so there are no alternatives to consider. 

5 Supporting Information 

5.1 The National Drug Strategy sets out a new approach to reducing the crime 
associated with drug misuse and improving people’s lives and is a 10-year strategic 
approach 

5.2 The financial costs of drug misuse are currently almost £20 billion a year.  However, 
the human toll is larger, measured not in pounds lost but lives shattered. 

5.3 The strategy has three strategic priorities which are detailed below showing the 
government departments involved in delivering the priorities: 

➢ Break drug supply chains (Home Office and Ministry of Justice)  
➢ Delivering a world-class treatment and recovery system (Department of 

Health and Social Care, Ministry of Justice, Department for Levelling Up Housing 
and Communities and Department for Work & Pensions) 

➢ Achieve a generational shift in demand for drugs (Home Office, Department 
for Education, Department of Health and Social Care, Ministry of Justice, 
Department for Culture Media and Sport, Department for Levelling Up Housing 
and Communities) 

5.4 The main points of the National Drug Strategy are below: 

28



➢ The continued allocation of funding to reduce drug related crime and re-
offending drug related death and increased engagement in drug treatment 
service.  For Bracknell Forest this funding will be £144,526 in 2022/23, £147,347 
in 2023/24 and £206,039 in 2024/25.   

➢ The Substance Misuse Treatment and Recovery Grant local planning grids were 
submitted on 11th May 2022 (see annexe a) and were agreed by the Office for 
Health Improvement & Disparity (OHID). The Memorandum of Understanding has 
been signed by the Director of Resources and returned in order for funds to be 
released. 

➢ The development of Commissioning Quality Standards for drug and alcohol 
services.  It is difficult to predict the impact of this locally as we are unique in so 
much as our service are provided on an in-house basis rather than then being 
commissioned.  It is anticipated that we will need to ensure that we provide a full 
range of services. 

➢ The development of a workforce strategy in order to ensure that the local 
workforce have the skills to provide a high-quality recovery service.  Locally 
we already commissioning a range of training for both the generic workforce to 
increase their knowledge and understand around substance misuse and more 
specialised training for the staff working within the drug and alcohol service. 

➢ Better integrated services. People with substance misuse issues often have 
physical and mental health needs, are not employed and may be homeless.  We 
need to work collectively to ensure that people do not fall through the gaps and 
whilst we do this locally, we need to ensure that we plan services in such a way 
to maximise the benefits to the individuals using the services.  We also need to 
make sure that the ICS includes leadership on drugs and alcohol to ensure that 
there is integration in respect of physical and mental health care and substance 
misuse services. 

➢ Employment.  The government is planning to roll out the individual Placement 
and Support Scheme (IPS) across England by the end of 2024/25.  As with some 
of the other initiatives detailed in the strategy it will be in the areas of highest 
need that this will initially be rolled out to so the expectation would be that in an 
area of low unemployment Bracknell Forest would be include in the later part of 
the rollout. 

➢ Improved access to accommodation.  The government are investing £53 
million over the next three years to fund a menu of housing support, this will 
include funding housing support workers within treatment service.  We will need 
to work closely with the Housing Team to ensure that this happens. 

➢ Communities of recovery.  There is an expectation that some of the additional 
investment being made will be used to make sure that peer-based support 
services and communities of recovery are linked to and embedded into drug 
treatment systems.  Services will be expected to refer clients to mutual aid 
organisations.  Locally we have Stepping Stones Recovery College and staff 
deliver sessions to the students in respect of substance misuse.  Public Health 
provided pump priming funding for this service, but we will need to explore 
whether or not additional funding is required in the future to maintain this service. 

➢ Improving the criminal justice system response.  Reducing crime and re-
offending is a fundamental part of the drug strategy.  Additional funding will be 
put into the Ministry of Justice over the next three years.  Mandatory and 
voluntary drug testing will be put in place in custodial settings as well as support 
for prisoners to engage with community treatment services prior to their release.  
There will be an increase in community sentences with a drug rehabilitation 
requirement.  Locally we have recruited to a Police, Prison and Probation Liaison 
Worker who will work across the criminal justice system to ensure that offenders 
can access the support that they require.  This post is funded via the additional 
SSMTR grant that we will receive for the next three years. 

29



➢ Young people’s treatment and support for families.  The government aims to 
increase the number of young people in treatment by 50% over the next three 
years. The number of young people referred to treatment in Bracknell Forest is at 
an all-time low and it is hoped that the Health Needs Assessment being 
undertaken by Public Health will include recommendations on how to increase 
the number of referrals.  Specific training in respect of Families and Substance 
Misuse and Parental Substance Misuse and Adverse Childhood Experiences will 
be delivered throughout the year to support professionals to be in a position to 
identify issues, information and advice and make appropriate referrals. 

5.5  The National Drug Strategy Guidance for Local Delivery Partners asks all local areas 
 to establish a CDP and nominate an SRO.  These SRO’s will be the key local point 
 of contacts for central government. 
5.6  The guidance sets out the timescales for establishing the CDP and nominating the 
 SRO.  It also sets out the timescales for the needs  assessment and delivery plan to 
 be completed and in place.  CDP will also be responsible for developing and 
 agreeing Terms of Reference and governance arrangements locally.  Annexe b 
 sets out the specific timescales that need to be met, including dependencies and 
 risk levels, as well as information on the minimum membership requirements, the 
 outcome framework, governance and terms of reference of the CDP. 
5.7 Where the CDP spans more than one local authority area  thought should be given 
 as to how needs, provision and delivery are reviewed at a  more local level i.e., a 
 local delivery group, subgroups and task and finish groups. 
5.8 The guidance says that as the partnership is to be accountable for delivery of the 
 national outcomes in the locality that the membership must reflect the need for the 
 key stakeholders to be at director level so that they are in a position to be able to 
 make key decisions, allocate resources, drive change in operational practice and, 
 hold each other to account 

6 Consultation and Other Considerations 

Legal Advice 

6.1 There are no specific legal implications arising from this report following the Guidance 
 for local delivery partners – From harm to hope: A 10-year drugs plan to cut 
 crime and save lives.  

Financial Advice 

6.2 This is a new Grant and will spent in accordance with Grant conditions 

Other Consultation Responses 

6.3 The Berkshire East Systems Management Group have discussed this report and 
 associated documents and have confirmed that they would support the establishment 
 of a Berkshire East Combating Drugs Partnership. 

 The Director of Public Health: Berkshire East has confirmed that he is willing to be the 
 Senior Responsible Owner for the Berkshire East Combating Drugs Partnership. 

 All relevant stakeholders have been consulted and have agreed to the proposed 
 geographical footprint and SRO. 

30



Equalities Impact Assessment 

6.4 An equalities impact assessment is in place for substance misuse services.  This will 
be revisited and revised as part of the needs assessment that will form part of the 
delivery plan for the Combating Drugs Partnership 

Strategic Risk Management Issues  

6.5 Risks are identified within Annexe b 

Climate Change Implications 

6.6 The recommendations in Section 2 above are expected to: 

Reduce emissions of CO2/Increase emissions of CO2/Have no impact on emissions 
of CO2. 

The reasons the Council believes that this will reduce emissions/have no impact on 
emissions are/to reduce the impact of this increase, the Council will  

Health & Wellbeing Considerations 

6.7 The health and wellbeing of the people who use substance misuse are of paramount 
 importance.  Both physical and mental health concerns form part of the comprehensive 
 assessment that is completed and any risks that are identified are used to develop and 
 risk management plan.  The risk management plan is reviewed regularly to reflect any 
 changes. 

The new National Drug Strategy seeks to improve the integration between physical 
and mental health services and substance misuse services. 

 
 
Contact for further information 
Tony Dwyer: Assistant Director Mental Health and Out of Hours, People Directorate 
tony.dwyer@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
 
Heema Shukla: Deputy Director Public Health. Place, Planning & Regeneration 
Heema.shukla@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
 
 
Jillian Hunt, Head of Drug & Alcohol Services, People Directorate 
Jillian.hunt@bracknell-forest.gov.uk  

Background Papers 
 

 
i From harm to hope: a 10-year drugs plan to cut crime and save lives 
(publishing.service.gov.uk) 
ii Drugs strategy guidance for local delivery partners - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
 

31

mailto:tony.dwyer@bracknell-forest.gov.uk
mailto:Heema.shukla@bracknell-forest.gov.uk
mailto:Jillian.hunt@bracknell-forest.gov.uk
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1079147/From_harm_to_hope_PDF.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1079147/From_harm_to_hope_PDF.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/drugs-strategy-guidance-for-local-delivery-partners


This page is intentionally left blank



Grant scheme Supplemental Substance Misuse 
Treatment and Recovery Grant

Local council [SELECT] Bracknell Forest

Year identified as an Enhanced area Year 3

Name (person completing the plan) Jillian Hunt

Contact details - email jillian.hunt@bracknell-forest.gov.uk

Contact details - phone 01344 351653

DPH sign-off on behalf of the local 
partnership

Stuart Lines,  DPH

All tables should be filled out and returned to DrugTreatmentGrants@dhsc.gov.uk by 11 May.  If 
you have questions about how you should fill out the tables, or concerns about being able to meet 
this date, in the first instance please raise these with your regional OHID team.

Once we have received your return we may contact you for clarifications, or to discuss your plans. 
In order to be able to conclude the allocation process as quickly as possible we would ask you to 
be prepared to respond as quickly as possible.

33

mailto:jillian.hunt@bracknell-forest.gov.uk


Background
The Supplemental Substance Misuse Treatment and Recovery Grant should be used to address the aims of 
the treatment and recovery section of the drug strategy. 

On a national basis the additional funding should deliver:

•   54,500 new high-quality treatment places, including: 21,000 new places for opiate and crack users; a 
treatment place for every offender with an addiction; 30,000 new treatment places for non-opiate users and 
alcohol users; a further 5,000 more young people in treatment
•   24,000 more people in long-term recovery from substance dependence
•   800 more medical, mental health and other professionals
•   950 additional drug and alcohol and criminal justice workers
•   sufficient commissioning and co-ordinator capacity in every local council

In developing your plans you should be mindful of the condition of the Public Health Grant that:

[A local council must] have regard to the need to improve the take up of, and outcomes from, its drug and 
alcohol misuse treatment services, based on an assessment of local need and a plan which has been 
developed with local health and criminal justice partners.

Treatment capacity guidance note
The guide numbers above are based on the national ambition set out in the drug strategy. The equivalent 
numbers for your area have been modelled based on the size of your drug and alcohol treatment system and 
the additional funding that has been awarded.  

The significant modelled increases occur in financial years 2023-24 and 2024-25, reflecting your indicative 
funding trajectory and the suggested focus on improving the capacity and competencies of the workforce in 
2022-23.

As the guide numbers are based on the levels of national unmet need, it is important that they are 
considered alongside your own assessment of need for each of the substance cohorts for adults as well as 
for young people. 

1. You should use OHID’s Commissioning Support Pack and other sources of local intelligence to 
understand your levels of unmet need. Local ambition to increase capacity should then be set accordingly.

2. Complete all tables in the template.  If you have any questions please contact your regional OHID lead.

3. Cells are colour-coded as follows:

You need to select from this cell
You need to complete these cells
OHID will have pre-filled these cells – do not change
These are cells calculated in the sheet – do not change
These are information/row heading cells
These are information/column heading cells
Deliberately empty cell

4. Please ensure the sums are consistent within the spreadsheet (some figures will display red indicating 
they are not as expected)

5. Interventions outside the menu can be considered only if they:
•    can be shown to deliver the outcomes expected of the grant
•    are already developed/established interventions that can be delivered within 2022-25
•    have evidence of their effectiveness and cost effectiveness
Please email DrugTreatmentGrants@dhsc.gov.uk as soon as possible if you plan to propose interventions 
not on the menu.

6. Capital

Under this grant, it is permissible for a capital asset to be created by the local council or service provider in 
the process of delivering the programme, but it is important that capital spending should not be the focus of 
the programme. Where you expect to spend on capital items this should be reflected in your detailed plans 
for 2022-23 and you should be clear how capital assets will allow your system to deliver the aims of the 

  
Please note, any capital asset created will have to be sanctioned by OHID and will subsequently be logged 
via the Statement of Grant Usage (SOGU), and local council should take steps to protect the asset for future 
use for the taxpayer, for example in the event of any service or contractual change.

NB There are more detailed guidance notes alongside each table in the rest of this workbook - please 
read them carefully before completing the table.

X1A0T

X1A1T

X1A2T

X1A3T

X1A4T

X1A5T

X1A6T

X1A7T

34



Link back to notes and guidance

Source Baseline Year 1 Year 2 Year 3

2020-21 
(actual)

2021-22 
(projected) 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25

Adult substance 
misuse spend 
categories 1

 £           700,000 £730,000 £746,000 £746,000 £746,000

Specialist drug 
and alcohol 
misuse services 
for children and 
young people 2

 £             37,000 38,000 39,000 39,000 39,000

Additional local 
investment that 
contributes 
substantially to 
substance misuse 
treatment and 
recovery 
outcomes 3

89,850 89,850 89,850 89,850 89,850

Supplemental 
substance misuse 
treatment and 
recovery grant

144,526 147,347 206,039

Inpatient 
detoxification grant 13,809 13,809 13,809

Total  £             857,850  £          1,033,185  £          1,036,006  £          1,094,698 

Source: https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/local-authority-revenue-expenditure-and-financing  

Please provide any detail you think is helpful about additional local investment:

Indicative 3 year planned investment

£89,850 is the cost of the two Family Safeguarding Model Adult Substance Misuse Workers who are based within 
Childrens Social Care.  The posts are funded from addiotnal resources within the local authority, not from the Public 
Health Grant.

3 For example from the police and crime commissioner, CCG, or local council's children's services, National Lottery 
or other charitable funding

Please enter your projected expenditure for 2021-22 and the planned expenditure for the following three years 
against the categories below 

As set out in the drug strategy and the Public Health Grant (PHG) 
agreement letter, eligibility for this additional grant funding will be dependent 
on maintaining existing local council (2020/21) investment in drug and 
alcohol treatment. 

Please fill out the planned investment from the PHG (or Business Rate 
Retention scheme) for both adults and young people.  

If your local council anticipates difficulties in meeting these conditions of 
additional funding, we recommend an early conversation with your regional 
Office for Health Improvement and Disparities (OHID) team.

1 Outturn return to DLUHC. Sum of: treatment for drug misuse in adults, treatment for alcohol misuse in adults, 
2 Outturn return to DLUHC for specialist drug and alcohol misuse services for children and young people

35

http://[s2l0];/#'Notes & guidance'!B34
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/local-authority-revenue-expenditure-and-financing


National target to increase the number of treatment places by 54,500 a 20% increase
Link back to notes and guidance

Baseline 2021-22 Year 1 Year 2 Year 3

2022-23 2023-24 2024-25

All adults “in structured 
treatment” 405 26 32 38

Opiates 103 6 8 10
Non opiates (combined non-
opiate only and non-opiates 

and alcohol)
167 11 13 14

Alcohol 135 9 11 14

Young people "in treatment" 15 2 3 5

Guide for additional numbers in treatment based on national targets

Baseline 2021-22 Year 1 Year 2 Year 3
2022-23 2023-24 2024-25

All adults “in structured 
treatment” 405                        -                          -                          -   

Opiates 103                        -                          -                          -   
Non opiates 167                        -                          -                          -   

Alcohol 135                        -                          -                          -   

Young people "in treatment" 15                        -                          -                          -   

Please enter the planned numbers in treatment for each of the next three years for adults (by the three 
substance groups) and for young people 

There is a national target to increase the number of treatment places by 
54,500 by the end of FY 2024-25. Local councils should agree with their 
provider/s a three-year trajectory that contributes towards the national 
ambition. In developing your trajectories, you should draw on your most recent 
Commissioning Support Pack published on ndtms.net to understand the 
levels of unmet need in your population for drug and alcohol treatment.

When planning it is important to keep in mind that, when the grant rises, as 
well as expanding treatment capacity, there is an expectation that the grant 
will be invested in improving quality – including by reducing caseloads and 
increasing the professional staff mix. This is reflected in the menu of 
interventions.

Capacity 

Capacity 

Capacity guidance note

As the guide numbers are based on the levels of national unmet need, it is important that they are 
considered alongside your own assessment of need for each of the substance cohorts for adults as well as 
for young people.  You should use OHID’s Commissioning Support Pack and other sources of local 
intelligence to understand your levels of unmet need. Local ambition to increase capacity should then be 
set accordingly.

The guide numbers below are based on the national ambition set out in the drug strategy. The equivalent 
numbers for your area have been modelled based on the size of your drug and alcohol treatment system 
and the additional funding that has been awarded. 

The significant modelled increases occur in financial years 2023-24 and 2024-25, reflecting your indicative 
funding trajectory and the suggested focus on improving the capacity and competencies of the workforce in 
2022-23.

36

http://[s3l0];/#'Notes & guidance'!B39


Partnership plan to reduce drug and alcohol deaths
Link back to notes and guidance

National 2016 % 2017 % 2018 % 2019 % 2020 %
Drug related deaths 2,386 100% 2,310 100% 2,670 100% 2,685 100% 2,830 100%
Alcohol specific deaths 1,671 100% 1,758 100% 1,685 100% 1,710 100% 2,074 100%
Deaths in treatment 2016-17 % 2017-18 % 2018-19 % 2019-20 % 2020-21 %
Death in treatment - opiate users 1,741 100% 1,712 100% 1,897 100% 2,010 100% 2,418 100%
Death in treatment - non-opiate users 172 100% 174 100% 193 100% 178 100% 244 100%
Death in treatment - alcohol only 767 100% 774 100% 799 100% 741 100% 1064 100%
Bracknell Forest number of deaths 2016 % 2017 % 2018 % 2019 % 2020 %
Drug specific deaths 2 0% 6 0% 0 0% 0 0% 5 0%
Alcohol specific deaths 0 0% 0 0% 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
Deaths in treatment* 2016-17 % 2017-18 % 2018-19 % 2019-20 % 2020-21 %
Death in treatment - opiate users 0 0% 0 0% 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
Death in treatment - non-opiate users 0 0% 0 0% 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
Death in treatment - alcohol only 0 0% 0 0% 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
*if value of 0 returned for death in treatment, this may be due to numbers being suppressed for your area.

Provide narrative on outline 3-year plans to reduce drug and alcohol related deaths, focusing on:

•   system wide approaches to reduce deaths
•   in and out of treatment populations
•   overdose and drug/alcohol related all-cause mortality
•   how risk is identified and reported
•   how deaths and non-fatal overdoses are reviewed
•   what resources and interventions will be deployed.

Alcohol related deaths:

We will work with the local Public Health Team to raise awarenss of the risk associated with excessvie alcohol consumption and 
train generic staff to be a postion to identify issues and sign post to services.

We will work  in partnership with Berkshire colleagues to: 
• Collect and collate drug-and alcohol related mortality data
• Monitor and examine patterns and trends, e.g. geographic, demographic, substances implicated in death
• Use data as an indicator to estimate the prevalence of substance-related problems and assess the risks associated with substance 
abuse
• Inform and facilitate discussion on the prevention of drug or alcohol related deaths, whether accidental or intentional
• Provide data for local commissioning planning 

Drug related deaths:

We will continue to commisison, and exand,  pharmacies to provide Take Home Naloxone to people acessing the needle exchange 
service to make sure that people who are not engaging in treatment have the means to prevent overdose.   

We will work  in partnership with Berkshire colleagues to: 
• Collect and collate drug-and alcohol related mortality data
• Identify substances implicated in drug-related deaths – including new drugs and new combinations
• Monitor and examine patterns and trends, e.g. geographic, demographic, substances implicated in death
• Act as an early warning system for new trends in mortality and drug misuse
• Use data as an indicator to estimate the prevalence of substance-related problems and assess the risks associated with substance 
abuse
• Inform and facilitate discussion on the prevention of drug or alcohol related deaths, whether accidental or intentional
• Provide data for local commissioning planning 

There is a national ambition to prevent nearly 1,000 deaths in the next 3 years, 
reversing the upward trend in drug deaths for the first time in a decade. Local council 
and their partners should set out how the grant funding they receive will reduce drug 
deaths locally, both in and out of treatment.

Local councils should also work to reduce alcohol deaths. In 2020-21, there was a 
20% increase in alcohol specific deaths in England, and a 44% increase in deaths 
(all causes) in people in treatment for alcohol-only compared to 2018-19.

This should be set out in a narrative form, describing system wide approaches to 
reduce deaths (including among those in the treatment and recovery system), how 
risk is identified and reported, how deaths and non-fatal overdoses are reviewed, 
and what resources will be deployed.

37

http://[s4l0];/#'Notes & guidance'!B44


Treatment workforce expansion planning 
Link back to notes and guidance

Workforce category Notes Baseline 2021-22:
Number of full time 
equivalent posts to 
nearest 0.25FTE,  
excluding those funded 
by 2021-22 universal drug 
treatment grant

Year 1 2022-23 planned 
recruitment:
Number of full time 
equivalent posts to 
nearest 0.25FTE - this 
should include ongoing 
posts originally funded by 
2021-22 universal drug 
treatment grant

Social workers Social workers registered to practice on the Social Work England 
register 
https://www.socialworkengland.org.uk/umbraco/surface/searchregister/
results 

0 0

Pharmacists Pharmacists registered to practice on the General Pharmaceutical 
Council (GPC) register 
https://www.pharmacyregulation.org/registers/pharmacist

0 0

Nurses Nurses registered to practice on the Nursing and Midwifery Council 
register https://www.nmc.org.uk/registration/search-the-register/ 0.25 0.25

Addiction psychiatrists Doctors registered on the General Medical Council (GMC) specialist 
register to practice 'substance misuse psychiatry' https://www.gmc-
uk.org/registration-and-licensing/the-medical-register 0 0

Other doctors Doctors registered on the GMC register to practice 
https://www.gmc-uk.org/registration-and-licensing/the-medical-register 0.75 0

Consultant psychologists Consultant psychologists registered on the Health and Care 
Professions Council (HCPC) register https://www.hcpc-uk.org/check-
the-register/ 0 0

Practitioner psychologists Practitioner psychologists registered on the HCPC register 
https://www.hcpc-uk.org/check-the-register/ 0 0

Assistant psychologists Assistant psychologists should only be employed where there is a 
qualified HCPC-registered psychologist to supervise them.

0 0

Drug and alcohol workers A paid employee of a local council-commissioned drug and/or alcohol 
treatment provider who does in-person and digital clinical work, and 
usually holds a caseload of people in structured treatment including 
keywork, harm reduction, outreach and psychosocial interventions, with 
individuals who have, or have had, drug and/or alcohol problems. This 
includes specialist roles targeting specific need, populations or working 
in specific settings including: women; the BAME community; LGBT 
community; mental or physical comorbidities; people involved with the 
criminal justice system; families; housing and employment support; and 
GP shared care.  Also counted here should be outreach workers who 
may not carry a caseload or work with people currently in structured 
treatment but do provide harm reduction and other interventions to 
people who could, and arguably should, be in treatment.

12 2

Criminal 
justice drug 
and alcohol 
workers

(subset of total 
   

A 'drug and alcohol worker' (see previous definition) who works with 
individuals involved in the criminal justice system in order to facilitate 
their engagement and retention in treatment, including supporting 
individuals through a range of criminal justice pathways including out of 
court disposals, court mandated community sentence treatment 
requirements and during/after custody/imprisonment.  

1 1

Young 
peoples' drug 
and alcohol 
workers

(subset of total 
i  d  d 

A paid employee of a local council-commissioned young peoples' 
specialist substance misuse service who does face-to-face and digital 
clinical work, including keywork, harm reduction, outreach and 
psychosocial interventions, with young people who have, or have had, 
drug and/or alcohol problems or are at risk of developing problems.

0.5

Other drug 
and alcohol 
workers 

(subset of total 
i  d  d 

Definition as in drug and alcohol worker row above, but excluding young 
people's drug and alcohol workers and  criminal justice drug and 
alcohol workers 10.5 1

Service managers Drug and alcohol treatment service managers, who do not carry a 
clinical caseload. Team leaders who do carry a clinical caseload should 
be included in the row relevant to their training/role, e.g. drug and 
alcohol worker, nurse.

0 1

Local council 
commissioners/coordinators/ 
analysts 

Local council-employed adult and young peoples' drug and alcohol 
treatment commissioners, coordinators and analysts, leading on or 
supporting any of, but not limited to, the following: commissioning; 
needs assessments; performance management; partnership 
coordination; drug and alcohol related death investigations; supporting 
collaboration, information sharing and joint working arrangements; 
regional or sub-regional commissioning.

1 0.5

The drug strategy includes an ambition to increase the capicty and 
quality of the drug and alchol treatment workforce over the next 
three years. This includes recruiting: 
•   800 more medical, mental health and other professionals
•   950 additional drug and alcohol and criminal justice workers
•   adequate commissioning and co-ordinator capacity in every local 
council

Dame Carol Black’s review and clinical guidelines recommend 
treatment systems have multidisciplinary teams, made up of 
nurses, doctors, addiction psychiatrists, psychologists, 
pharmacists, and social workers. Your plans should include 
proposals to ensure treatment systems have all these professions 
available to them, or initial steps to work towards that if your local 
council is in a later tranche of increased funding. 

Included below is an outline of the national workforce expansion 
modelling, which informed the calculations for the additional 
treatment investment across the next three years. It is included 
here to aid your planning in relation to the relative numbers staff 
from different groups. The modelling uses the workforce baseline 
taken from the results of workforce survey undertaken by Dame 
Carol Black’s independent review of drugs in 2020.

Please only include staff in this return who are commissioned to 
deliver (or in the case of local council commissioners/coordinators 
to oversee) drug and alcohol treatment and recovery services by 
the local council.  

Please enter full time equivalent numbers (FTE), to the nearest 
0.25, as opposed to the number of people employed. 

We are aware that the ‘doctor’ category in this template does not 
represent the range of skills and experience of doctors who aren't 
addiction psychiatrists. For this process, we have not split out 
GPs, physicians, training grades and others. A workforce 
benchmarking exercise to follow will capture this level of detail, to 
inform the workforce strategy and future local planning.

Consideration should also be given to how you will support 
workforce development in inpatient units and residential 
detoxification. Ensuring contract prices allow for this and regional 
collaboration or coordination may be part of the solution. OHID, in 
partnership with HEE will undertake further work in this area. 

Please categorise staff according to the role they are employed to 
deliver. For example, where someone who is a qualified social 
worker is currently employed as a drug and alcohol worker, they 
should be categorised as a drug and alcohol worker.

38

http://[s5l0];/#'Notes & guidance'!B49


Link back to notes and guidance

Baseline Year 1 Year 2 Year 3
2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25

National 37% 75%
Local planning (%) 73% 73% 75% 75%

The drug strategy sets out a national ambition that by the end of 2024-25 there should be ‘a treatment place for every 
offender with an addiction’. 

Local councils should engage with their partners, including police, probation and prison health providers, to optimise access 
to treatment for individuals referred from custody suites, courts and prisons and ensure that there is a shared understanding 
of how improved health and reoffending outcomes can be delivered for this cohort.

Using data from the Public Health Outcomes Framework C20 indicator, this table shows continuity of care figures for adult 
offenders who have a continuing treatment need on discharge from prison and who are successfully engaged into local 
community treatment services. As you are aware, the continuity of care between prison discharge and engagement in 
treatment is a fundamental part of reducing reoffending and recidivism. Therefore, we have a national ambition to ensure 3 in 
4 prison leavers with a substance misuse issue are engaging in treatment 3 weeks after release by the end of 2023. We have 
worked with the Ministry of Justice to identify this as a stretching goal to reach that will truly shift the dial  To that end  we need 

Number of adults with substance misuse treatment need who successfully 
engage in community-based structured treatment following release from 
prison/secure estate 

Please enter as a percentage the planned continuity of care performance for each of the 
next three years 

39

http://[s6l0];/#'Notes & guidance'!B64


Link back to notes and guidance

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3

2022-23 2023-24 2024-25

National 3805 1.4%
Local planning 8 1.8% 9 9 9

Baseline 
2018-21 average

Proportion of adults 
in resi rehab as a 
proportion of all 
adults in treatment

Proportion of all adults in treatment who start residential rehabilitation (National ambition to 
achieve 2%, see notes)

Please enter the total number of people planned to attend residential rehab for the next three years 

As set out in the drug strategy we are implementing 
mechanisms to help ensure that there is adequate provision of 
residential rehabilitation in all areas of the country.

You should consider local need, and how to use the grant to 
increase access to residential rehabilitation over the course of 
the grant period. 

This planning table is populated with the proportion of your 
drug and alcohol treatment population that started a residential 
rehabilitation placement averaged over the 3 years 2018 to 
2021, benchmarked against a national ambition of 2%, and the 
number of placements needed to achieve 2%. 

If you do not already meet or exceed this ambition there is an 
expectation that you develop plans to do so, and discuss with 
your regional OHID team if appropriate.

40

http://[s7l0];/#'Notes & guidance'!B67


Outline 3-year plan
Link back to notes and guidance

Main area of development Cohort Outline plan for 2022-23 Outline plan for 2023-24 Outline plan for 2024-25

Young people
(under 18)

1.      We will work to improve communication and 
pathways from and to other young people's services; 2. 
We will review and expand on evidence-based 
approaches (harm reduction) as required; 

1.     We will increase the numbers in treatment via the 
implementation of new pathways and better 
communication between organisations; 2. We will review 
the appropriateness of referrals. 3. To consider the 
recommendations arising from the Health and Wellbing 
needs assesment in respect of future planning. 

1.    We will monitor the effectiveness of the new 
pathways and communication in respect of the increase 
in new referrals to the service. 

Adults

1. We will work with the South Central Coast 
Consortium to review needs and availability across the 
area to review our pathways into, and out of, our 
commissioned tier four provision to understand any 
barriers to access and establish levels of unmet need 
amongst our treatment population 2. We will sustain the 
increased capacity in our criminal justice team in respect 
of the funding provided in 2021/22. 

1.     We will work the South Central Coast Consortium 
to implement the findings of the review which may 
require us to build our capacity to introduce  more 
specialist residential rehabilitation provision; 2. reviewing 
impact of criminal justice team and make 
recommendations to continue or change.3. To consider 
the recommendations arising from the Health and 
Wellbing needs assesment in respect of future planning. 

1.    We will  analysing data to identify best practices for 
admittance, referrals, preparation, matching individuals 
to facilities and completions / discharges; 2. We will 
consider any recommendations from the criminal justice 
review and develop an improvement plan if required.  

Young people
(under 18)

1. We will  ensure that  all staff are competent to deliver 
a range of evidence based children and young people's 
interventions; 2. ensuring that there is sufficient time for 
quality interventions to be undertaken; 3. identifying how 
to successfully engage individuals in identified cohorts 
(e.g. girls and young women, those involved in Youth 
Justice Provision and exploitation, previous and 
currently looked after children, those with both 
diagnosed and undiagnosed disabilities including 
neurodiversity etc. 

1.	We will  develop a plan identifying the professionals 
needed from a range of disciplines to enhance quality 
interventions with individuals; 2) build on ACEs training 
to implement a trauma-informed treatment service.3. To 
consider the recommendations arising from the Health 
and Wellbing needs assesment in respect of future 
planning. 

1. Ensuring that staff continue to receive training 
relevant to their role to enhance their ability to deliver 
high quality interventions. 2. review trauma-informed 
approach for effectiveness.

Adults

1.     We will regularly review caseload sizes and mix to 
ensure that they are balanced across the workforce. 2. 
We will identify a small cohort of clients to pilot the use 
ff Budival. 3. We will continue to support the Family 
Safeguarding Model and provide supervision for the 
substance misuse adult workers based within Children's 
Social Care. 4. We will continue to commission and 
provide training for staff which will include ACE’s.

1.    We will continue to  review caseload size and mix to  
inform further planning; 2. maintaining regular clinical 
supervision for all frontline staff; 3. amending or 
expanding Buivdal provision based on review; 3.building 
on ACEs training to implement a trauma-informed 
treatment service. 3. To consider the recommendations 
arising from the Health and Wellbing needs assesment 
in respect of future planning. 

1. We will develop a range of quality measures in 
respect of us implementing enhanced treatment 
approaches 2. reviewing trauma-informed approach for 
effectiveness.

Young people
(under 18)

1.      offering accredited professional development to non-clinical 
treatment workforce.  2. We will participate in the Recruitment and 
Retention Review in respect of Adult Social Care.  3. We will 
continue to provide relevant training to partner agencies and 
departments in the local authority to improve sills, knowledge and 
understanding in respect of substance misuse.

1.     We will work with the Local Authorities Principal Social 
Worker for Children and Young People and offer placements to 
individuals completing their Social Work apprenticeship’s or 
degrees 

1.     Consider whether a specific drugs and alcohol 
apprenticeship could be developed locally.

Adults

1.      offering accredited professional development to non-clinical 
treatment workforce.  2. We will participate in the Recruitment and 
Retention Review in respect of Adult Social Care. 3. We will 
continue to provide relevant training to partner agencies and 
departments in the local authority to improve sills, knowledge and 
understanding in respect of substance misuse.

1. We will work with the Local Authorities Principal Social Worker 
for Adults and offer placements to individuals completing their 
Social Work apprenticeship’s or degrees 

1.     Consider whether a specific drugs and alcohol 
apprenticeship could be developed locally.

Young people
(under 18)

1. We will engage with any reviews in respect of  local children 
and young people's serious case reviews where drugs and 
alcohol featured. 2. We will continue to provide training for 
substance misuse workers, Early Help and CSC staff to enable 
them to develop a therapeutic approach to children affected by 
parental substance misuse. 3.  We will review the findings of the 
Health and Wellbeing Needs Assessment in respect of young 
people with a view to developing a plan in year two.

1) We will producing a detailed full proposal identifying local 
themes, places and events to target in order to reduce harms to 
children and young people as per the recommendations from the 
Health and Wellbeing Needs Assessment

1.     We will continue to ensure that harm reduction information, 
advice and support is available to young people. 

Adults

1. conducting a deep dive into DRD and ARD; 2. developing a 
Berkshire wide partnership approach to reduce alcohol and drug-
related deaths and a Berkshire wide Drug alert system; 3. 
implement Drug alert plans within year 4. Develop clear pathways 
between substance misuse service and primary and secondary 
care

1. Fully implement the ARD/DRD process that has been agreed 
and ensure that any ARD's and DRD's are reviewed in a timely 
way and ensure that any learning from reviews is shared with all 
relevant partners.  2. Review the effectiveness of the pathways 
between  substance misuse services, primary and secondary 
care, identify any barriers and develop an improvement plan.3. To 
consider the recommendations arising from the Health and 
Wellbing needs assesment in respect of future planning. 

1.  Review the effectiveness of the  pan Berkshire ARD/DRD 
processes and membership of the parentship to identify good 
practice and share accordingly.  2. Identify any barriers in terms 
of information sharing, membership of the partnership and 
develop an improvement plan.  3.  Continue to monitor the 
effectiveness of the health liaison post and identify and share 
success stories in terms of individuals who have seen 
improvements in terms of their physical and mental health.

Recovery orientated system of care, 
including peer-based recovery support 
services 

Adults

1.Supporting the existing local recovery college in identify 
strengths and gaps and identifying potential funding streams and 
joint working opportunities to further enhance the service.2.To 
regularly review that there is active engagement across the 
breadth of local lived experience individuals and 
organisations.3.To ensure that the pathways to peer support and 
recovery services are clear and well publicised.

1.Supporting the existing local recovery college in identify 
strengths and gaps and identifying potential funding streams and 
joint working opportunities to further enhance the service.2.To 
regularly review that there is active engagement across the 
breadth of local lived experience individuals and 
organisations.3.To ensure that the pathways to peer support and 
recovery services are clear and well publicised.

1.Supporting the existing local recovery college in identify 
strengths and gaps and identifying potential funding streams and 
joint working opportunities to further enhance the service.2.To 
regularly review that there is active engagement across the 
breadth of local lived experience individuals and 
organisations.3.To ensure that the pathways to peer support and 
recovery services are clear and well publicised.

Reducing drug related deaths and 
improving access to mental and physical 
health care

Expanding and developing the workforce

Increased treatment and harm 
reduction capacity, including 
inpatient detoxification and 
residential rehabilitation

Enhanced treatment quality

You are expected to complete a brief outline 3-year plan, taking account 
of the menu of interventions, which will form the basis of your detailed 
plan for 2022-23 (it may be helpful to complete that first). 

Your plans will need to show how drug and alcohol treatment services 
and other services and interventions are aligned and integrated to 
respond to multiple and complex needs.

It will be possible to modify this outline plan in the future but it is 
important that your first-year plans form part of a longer-term vision.

41

http://[s8l0];/#'Notes & guidance'!B73


Detailed plan for 2022-23

Your allocation £144,526

Proposed total 2022-23 SSMTR grant spend £144,526

Link back to notes and guidance
Link to Menu of interventions

Area Intervention Your proposal Detail of staff and consumables Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 SSMTR grant spend 
in 2022-23

% of additional 
spend in 2022-23

Local partnership coordination and planning capacity to 
support partnership wide comprehensive assessment of 
need, strategic planning, and the implementation of 
partnership plans.

To work with the local public health team in respect of a health and well being needs 
assessment with a focus on substance misuse.  To consider the recommendations and 
implement any changes required.  To revisit and refresh the needs assessment annually 
and develop plans to implement any recommendations for sign off by the strategic 
partnership.

Develop and manage an East Berkshire strategic partnership that includes all key multi 
agency partners involved in the drugs and alcohol agenda, to drive forward the 10 Year 
Drug Strategy aims and objectives. 
Prioritise the development of an East Berkshire strategic approach and agreed outcome 
measures to drive commissioning and investment in drug and alcohol services.
Undertake a deep dive of DRD and ARD local data, and a review of serious case 
reviews featuring alcohol and drugs. 

0.5 Strategic Partnership Lead (Shared with 
Bracknell and Slough) 0 1833.33 1833.33 1833.33  £                        5,500 4%

Capacity to support enhanced local system-wide drug and 
alcohol related death and non-fatal overdose investigations

To work with public health and the other local authorities in Berkshire to develop a 
borough wide system for reviewing drug and alcohol related deaths and non-fatal 
overdose investigations.  This will be led by Public health and will be supported by the 
Strategic Parternship Lead.

 £                               -   

Capacity to support collaboration, information sharing and 
joint working arrangements between drug and alcohol 
treatment and other key local agencies, to better 
understand and meet the needs of vulnerable/priority 
groups.

To employ a Deputy Head of Service to implement  the delivery of  new interventions 
and manage performance within the service.  There will also be a responsibility to 
implement any findings from the  Health & Wellbeing Needs  Assessment directly 
related to substance misuse 1FTE 0 15,431.67 15,431.67 15,431.67

 £                      46,295 32%

 £                               -   
 £                               -   

Enhanced naloxone provision, including through peer 
networks and the police (but see exclusions below this 
table).

We are currently in negotiations with the local police area in respect of police officers 
carrying take home naloxone.  We will continue to discuss this and once agreement has 
been reached will provide training and THN kits as required.

20 THN kits  £                   -    £                296  £                   296  £                           592 0%

Enhanced outreach and engagement, (including outreach 
for people with disabilities and new parents) including 
targeted street outreach for:
•  people experiencing rough sleeping and homelessness 
(aligned with and complementing rough sleeping grant 
initiatives where relevant)
•  targeted vulnerable/priority groups including sex workers 
•  crack, heroin users and alcohol users who are not in 
contact with treatment 
•  young people not accessing services. 

To continue to provide THN to the local Rough Sleepers Team for distribution to people 
who are homeless or in temporary accommodation and may not be engaged with 
services.

To continue to provide THN to a local charity, Pilgrim Hearts Trust, which delivers 
service to people  who either homeless, at risk of becoming homeless or experiencing  
poverty.

To undertaken a weekly drop in session  at the Pilgrims Hearts drop in to try to engage 
crack, heroin and alcohol users who are not in contact with services, provide needle 
exchange products and support people who are engaged with treatment services as 
required.

To continue to commission pharmacies to distribute TNH kits

50 x Nasal THN kits for distribution via the local 
service

125 x THN kits Pharmacies

Payment to pharmacies to distribute TNH

50 THN kits  for distribution by RST and Pilgrims 
Heart Trust 0 2,216.66 £2,216.66 £2,216.22

 £                        6,650 5%

 £                               -   
 £                               -   
 £                               -   

Targeted treatment for priority or vulnerable groups, 
including underserved ethnic groups, women/girls, LGBTQ 
communities, and people engaged in chemsex.

All of the staff have undertaken chemsex training with a view to being in a position to 
deliver interventions as required.  £                               -   

Treatment capacity to respond to increased diversionary 
activity, including through out of court disposals, liaison and 
diversion and drug testing on arrest and workforce capacity 
for psycho-educational diversionary interventions for low 
level drug offences for adults and young people.

We have increased our capacity in respect of working with people who are 
involved in the criminal justice system.  This will allow us to deal with out of court 
disposals, deliver a drug diversion scheme to young people and provide 
psychosocial intervention as required.

See costings in D27

 £                               -   

Increased/piloted provision of novel long-acting opioid 
substitution treatments.

We will undertake a scoping exercise in order to identify a cohort of individuals to pilot 
the provision of long acting OST.  This will be dependant on the recruitment of a Health 
& Wellbeing Nurse.

4 x clients for a six month period (£1,820.25 per 
client)  £            2,427  £            2,427  £                2,427  £                        7,281 5%

 £                               -   
 £                               -   
 £                               -   

Improved collaboration and joint working arrangements with 
police, Liaison and Diversion schemes, courts, probation, 
and secure settings to:
•  increase the number of community service treatment 
requirements particularly DRRs/ATRs and support 
improved compliance with court mandated orders
•  increase the engagement and retention in community 
treatment of individuals referred from prison.

Enhanced treatment service capacity to undertake police 
and court custody assessments to improve pathways into 
treatment.

1 FTE CJ Police, Prison and Probation Recovery Facilitator  who carry out the following 
regular visits to individuals whilst in custody, to undertake assessments, meet on 
release and transfer to treatment to improve continuity of care.  The worker will also 
improve collaboration and joint working arrangements with the courts and probation to 
increase the number of community sentence treatment requirements (CSTRs) and 
support improved engagement in treatment and compliance in respect of individuals on 
court mandated orders.

1 FTE  £                   -    £            9,201  £            9,201  £                9,201  £                      27,604 19%

Pathway development, including outreach/in-reach, to 
respond to co-morbidities or complex needs, including co-
occurring mental ill health, respiratory health conditions, liver 
diseases.

The Health Liaison Recovery Facilitator will work across primary and secondary care 
and the acute trusts to improve care co-ordination.  The  worker will also support 
individuals to access primary care services and accompany them to pre-booked 
appointments to meet their physical and mental health needs on their release from 
custodial sentences.

See costings in D41  £                               -   

 £                               -   
 £                               -   
 £                               -   
 £                               -   
 £                               -   
 £                               -   
 £                               -   

Increased residential rehabilitation placements, to ensure 
the option is available to everyone who would benefit. 
(Locally agreed targets should be set against the national 
benchmark/ambition, as in the planning table)
Consideration should be given how to support service 
expansion and improvement through available capital funds, 
and through regional or sub-regional commissioning 
partnerships with other local councils.

We will work with the South Central Coast Consortium to develop a scoping document 
for  an assessment to be undertaken in respect of needs and availability of  residential 
rehabilitation.  The findings and recommendations will be used to inform future 
purchasing plans. 

£1,000 for scoping exercise

£17,500 for 2 x rehab placements
 £            6,833  £            5,833  £                5,833  £                      18,500 13%

 £                               -   
 £                               -   
 £                               -   
 £                               -   

Expanded capacity and enhanced capability to deliver 
comprehensive physical and mental health screening and 
assessment.

1FTE Health Liaison Recovery Facilitator will work across primary and secondary care 
and the acute trusts to improve care co-ordination.  The worker will establish strong 
working relationships with the Alcohol Liaison Teams that are base in local hospitals as 
well as the mental health hospital and seek to engage people prior to their discharge 
from hospital.

1FTE  £                   -    £            9,201  £            9,201  £                9,201  £                      27,604 19%

The  worker will also support individuals to access primary care services and 
accompany them to pre-booked appointments to meet their physical and mental health 
needs.

 £                               -   

 £                               -   
 £                               -   
 £                               -   
 £                               -   
 £                               -   
 £                               -   
 £                               -   

 £                               -   

 £                               -   
 £                               -   
 £                               -   
 £                               -   
 £                               -   

Recruitment, retention and training initiatives, including:

•  Training, education, and continuous professional 
development including training and support for line 
managers
•  Health and wellbeing support including initiatives to 
reduce work-related stress.

The local authority is currently undertaking review in respect of recruitment and retention 
across Adult Social Care which will include the staff in the substance misuse service.

We will continue to commission bespoke training for the staff in the substance misuse 
service to ensure continuous professional development.  The management team will be 
supported to gain a recognised management qualification to enable them to support the 
staff.

We will identify staff who will complete mental first aid training to be in a better position 
to support staff suffering from work related stress.

The Local Authority provides Health and Wellbeing support which includes counselling 
and is accessible to all staff in the community substance misuse team.

 £                   -    £            1,500  £            1,500  £                1,500  £                        4,500 3%

 £                               -   
 £                               -   
 £                               -   
 £                               -   

You should outline your proposals and projected spend against the menu 
of interventions (MOI). You can select interventions from the MOI 
according to local need, but it is vital that your proposals help to achieve 
the drug strategy outcomes outlined above and realise your locally agreed 
targets. 

Your plans do not need to include everything in the menu if you already 
have adequate local provision, but they do need to support the increased 
treatment capacity and workforce targets over the three years of the grant.

The three-year funding announced in the drug strategy is to enable all 
areas to begin implementing the recommendations outlined in Dame Carol 
Black’s review, and these are reflected in the MOI. 

We are phasing in the additional funding that will be required for full 
national implementation of Dame Carol Black’s relevant recommendations. 
The first 50 areas will see their funding grow significantly over the course 
of the following two years. These areas are asked to commence planning 
now to deliver against the full menu of interventions and drug strategy 
ambitions. 

Areas that are not in this first 50 can also select from all the interventions 
on the menu as long as they can meet the aims of the 2021-22 grant to 
reduce drug-related deaths and improve criminal justice pathways into 
drug treatment. Interventions which are shaded in the MOI table were also 
in the menu of interventions for the additional funding in 2021-22. 
Therefore, areas not seeing significant funding increases in 2022-23 and 
2023-24 should ensure these inventions are adequately resourced, either 
from the grant or other funding sources such as the Public Health Grant, 
before considering other interventions from the MOI. 

Every local council will receive increases in funding in 2023-24 and/or 
2024-25 and will be expected to plan to implement the full 
recommendations from Dame Carol Black’s review and from the full menu 
of interventions at slower rate and with a later commencement. However, it 
is important that the short-term plans in these areas create a foundation 
for the longer-term ambitions, and whatever can be done in the short term 
to achieve the longer-term goal is considered.

Interventions outside the menu can be considered only if they:
•   can be shown to deliver the outcomes expected in the drug strategy 
and target the priority cohorts identified in the treatment section of the 
drug strategy
•   can be mobilised and delivered within 2022-23 to 2024-25
•   have evidence of effectiveness and cost effectiveness
•   comply with legislation and are in line with clinical guidelines
•   are not interventions that are being developed and funded as part of 
separate pilots and programmes of work 
•   are only modest pump-priming for costs that could be significant and will 
need to be met from non-treatment budgets in the future

7. Better and more integrated responses to 
physical and mental health issues

8. Enhanced recovery support

9. Other interventions which meet the aims and 
targets set in the drug strategy

10. Expanding the competency and size of the 
workforce 

1. System coordination and commissioning

2. Enhanced harm reduction provision

3. Increased treatment capacity

4. Increased integration and improved care 
pathways between the criminal justice settings, 
and drug treatment

5. Enhancing treatment quality

6. Residential rehabilitation and inpatient 
detoxification

We will continue to support Stepping Stones: Bracknell Recovery College to work with 
people with substance misuse issues, offenders, people with mental health issues and 
people who are homeless or at risk of losing their accommodation.  We will support 
clients to enrol on course relevant to their needs  which will include peer support, 
Education, Training and routes to Employment.  Staff from the local substance misuse 
service will deliver specific 'Foundations To Recovery' sessions on a rolling basis.  The 
Recovery College received pump priming funding from the local  Public Health team so 
there is no cost at this point in time.  Funding to sustain the service in place but this will 
be regularly reviewed and we may need to provide some funding in year 3.

X9A0T

42

http://[s9l0];/#'Notes & guidance'!B78
http://[s9l1];/#'Menu of Interventions'!B2


Menu of interventions
Link to Detailed plan 2022-23

Area
Intervention

Increased drug and alcohol treatment commissioning capacity, covering 
adult and/or young peoples’ services. 

Local partnership coordination and planning capacity to support 
partnership wide comprehensive assessment of need, strategic planning, 
and the implementation of partnership plans. 

Capacity to support enhanced local system-wide drug and alcohol related 
death and non-fatal overdose investigations.

Capacity to support collaboration, information sharing and joint working 
arrangements between drug and alcohol treatment and other key local 
agencies, to better understand and meet the needs of vulnerable/priority 
groups.

Increased commissioning capacity to support regional or sub-regional 
commissioning, including for residential rehabilitation and inpatient 
detoxification.

Enhanced needle and syringe programmes (including more use of low 
dead space syringes), covering specialist as well as pharmacy-based 
provision.

Enhanced naloxone provision, including through peer networks and the 
police.

Enhanced outreach and engagement, (including outreach for people with 
disabilities and new parents) including targeted street outreach for:
•  people experiencing rough sleeping and homelessness (aligned with and 
complementing rough sleeping grant initiatives where relevant)
•  targeted vulnerable/priority groups including sex workers 
•  crack, heroin users and alcohol users who are not in contact with 
treatment 
•  young people not accessing services. 

Additional treatment places for opiate and crack users.

Additional treatment places for people dependent on alcohol.

Additional young people’s treatment places.

Additional treatment places for non-opiate drug users.

Targeted services/provision for parents in need of treatment and support 
for children of drug and alcohol dependent parents and families.

Targeted treatment for priority or vulnerable groups, including underserved 
ethnic groups, women/girls, LGBTQ communities, and people engaged in 
chemsex.
Treatment capacity to respond to increased diversionary activity, including 
through out of court disposals, liaison and diversion and drug testing on 
arrest and workforce capacity for psycho-educational diversionary 
interventions for low level drug offences for adults and young people.

Increased/piloted provision of novel long-acting opioid substitution 
treatments.

Enhanced treatment service capacity to undertake police and court 
custody assessments to improve pathways into treatment.

Improved collaboration and joint working arrangements with police, Liaison 
and Diversion schemes, courts, probation, and secure settings to:
•  increase the number of community service treatment requirements 
particularly DRRs/ATRs and support improved compliance with court 
mandated orders
•  increase the engagement and retention in community treatment of 
individuals referred from prison.

Key working/case management quality improvement, including reducing 
caseload sizes, implementing caseload segmentation approaches, 
increased clinical supervision and training and development.

Psychosocial intervention quality improvements, including reducing 
caseload sizes, implementation of evidence-based programmes, 
increased/enhanced clinical supervision and training and development.

Pharmacological intervention quality improvement, including increasing the 
range of interventions and enhancement of clinical capacity, capability, and 
expertise.

Increased residential rehabilitation placements, to ensure the option is 
available to everyone who would benefit. 
(Locally agreed targets should be set against the national 
benchmark/ambition, as in the planning table)
Consideration should be given how to support service expansion and 
improvement through available capital funds, and through regional or sub-
regional commissioning partnerships with other local councils.

Increased number of inpatient detoxification placements to meet increasing 
demand following community treatment expansion, and in addition to the 
provision commissioned through the dedicated in-patient detoxification 
grant and multi-area commissioning consortia. 

Expanded capacity and enhanced capability to deliver comprehensive 
physical and mental health screening and assessment.

Increased capacity for screening for liver fibrosis and establishing pathways 
with hepatology.

Pathway development, including outreach/in-reach, to respond to co-
morbidities or complex needs, including co-occurring mental ill health, 
respiratory health conditions, liver diseases.

Introduce or extend the enhancement of hospital Alcohol Care Teams to 
also cover drug misuse.

Enhanced partnership approaches with physical and mental health 
services, including the co-location of services and interventions.

Enhanced psychosocial interventions so they effectively assess, manage, 
and make supported referrals for common mental health problems, 
including anxiety, depression, and trauma.

Development and expansion of a recovery community and peer support 
network, including in treatment, to sustain long-term recovery, increase the 
visibility of recovery and support social integration. This could include:
•     peer-based recovery support services
•     recovery community centres
•     recovery support services in educational settings
•     facilitating access to mutual aid
•     recovery housing
•     long-term recovery management such as recovery check-ups

Enhanced partnership with collaboration with employment and housing 
service to improve pathways and integrated system of care.

9. Other interventions which meet the aims and targets set in 
the drug strategy

Interventions outside the menu of interventions can be considered if they 
meet the conditions listed in the notes and guidance page.
Please email DrugTreatmentGrants@dhsc.gov.uk as soon as possible if 
you plan to propose interventions not on the menu.

Recruitment, retention and training initiatives, including:

•  Incentives for staff and employers 
•  Improved recruitment and retention, including international recruitment 
•  Competitive pay and benefits packages
•  Training, education, and continuous professional development including 
training and support for line managers
•  Health and wellbeing support including initiatives to reduce work-related 
stress.

Capacity in services to support training places for registered professionals, 
including psychiatrists, psychologists, nurses, and social workers.

Training and development programmes for peer workers and volunteers.

Increased number of drug and alcohol workers.

Increased number of criminal justice drug and alcohol workers.

Increased number of addiction psychiatrists.

Increased number of doctors.

Increased number of:
·    consultant psychologists
·    practitioner psychologists
·    assistant psychologists.

Increased number of nurses.
Increased number of pharmacists. 
Increased number of social workers.
Increased number of service managers
Increased number of commissioners, coordinators and analysts

6. Residential rehabilitation and inpatient detoxification

7. Better and more integrated responses to physical and mental 
health issues

8. Enhanced recovery support

10. Expanding the competency and size of the workforce 

Interventions which are shaded in the table were also in the menu of interventions for the additional funding in 2021-22.

1. System coordination and commissioning

2. Enhanced harm reduction provision

3. Increased treatment capacity 

4. Increased integration and improved care pathways between 
the criminal justice settings, and drug treatment

5. Enhancing treatment quality

X10A0T

43

http://[s10l0];/#'Detailed plan 2022-23'!A1


This page is intentionally left blank



In December 2021 the government published a 10-year drugs strategy, 'From 
Harm to Hope', backed by record levels of funding of over £3 billion from 2022 
- 25.  It provides the foundations for work at both a local and national level to 
deliver the following strategic priorities:

Break drug supply

• Why - Drug supply chains are 
violent and exploitative, 
degrading neighbourhoods 
across the country and 
internationally

•How - We will continue to roll up 
county lines and strengthen our 
response across the drug supply 
chain, making the UK a 
significantly harder pace for 
organised crime groups to 
operate

•Who - Home Office and MoJ, 
working with international and 
intelligence partners, NCA, 
Border Force, police courts, 
prisons and probation

•What - within 3 years close 
2,000 more county lines, disrupt 
6,400 OCG activities and deny 
more criminal assets 

Deliver a world class treatment 
and recovery system

•Why - Drug addiction harms 
individuals and society: deaths 
have risen to record levels and 
almost half of acquisitive crime 
is linked to addiction

•How - We will invest a further 
£780million to rebuild drug 
treatment and recovery services 
including for young people and 
offenders, with new 
commissioning standards to 
drive transparency and 
consistency

•Who - DHSC, DLUHC, DWP and 
MOJ working with NHSE, local 
providers and people with lived 
experience 

•What - Within three years: 
prevent nearly 1,000 deaths, 
deliver 54,500 high-quality 
treatment places and prevent a 
quarter of a million crimes

Achieve a shift in the demand for 
recreational drugs

•Why - Use of recreational drugs 
has grown over a decade, 
particularly among young 
people, risking individual harm 
and fuelling dangerous markets

•How - We will strengthen the 
evidence of how best to deter 
the use of recreational drugs, 
ensuring that adults change their 
behaviour or face tough 
consequences, and with 
universal and targeted activity to 
prevent young people from 
staring to take drugs

•Who - DfE, Home Office and 
MOJ working with local 
authorities, police, education 
providers, secure facilities and 
youth services

•What - Reduce overall drug use 
to a new historic low over the 
next decade.

45



Number Action By when Lead Dependencies Risk Outcome
1 Agree who will be the local 

Senior Responsible Owner 
(SRO)

By  1st August 2022
Berkshire 
East/West DPH 
and local 
Consultants

Will need to agree the 
geographical footprint of the  
Combating drug partnership prior 
to agreeing SRO.

Cannot be agreed until geographical footprint has been agreed 
and the Combating Drugs Partnership has been formed.  The 
tight timescales mean that this must be a priority action.

All relevant partners have agreed 

1.1

Agreement with other LA's on who 
this will be.

Oonce the geographical area has been agreed it may be difficult 
to agree the SRO due to the make up of the LA's. The tight 
timescales mean that this must be a priority action. 

The geographical footprint has been 
agreed and the SRO has been 
nominated.  DPH Berkshire East will 
take on this role.

2 Form Combating Drugs 
Partnership: bring together 
different individuals and 
organisations who represent and 
deliver the drugs strategy goals, 
and co-ordinate activity to reduce 
drug related harms

By 1st August 2022

Identify individuals in organisations 
and invite them to join the 
partnership

Can not be completed until geographical footprint has been 
agreed. The tight timescales mean that this must be a priority 
action.

Geographical footprint has been 
agreed.

2.1 May not be possible to invite people  due to lack of resource within 
lead organisations if they are required to join multiple partnerships

Whilst the geographical footprint has 
been agreed and the SRO 
nominated we still need to invite 
stakeholders to join the partnership.

3 Confirm the footprint for you 
partnerships: every upper tier LA 
should be covered and where 
local areas can work together to 
create a shared arrangement 
across a wider footprint, such as 
a combined authority, they 
should

By 1st August 2022

Agreement with other LA's and 
lead organisations  on the 
geographical footprint of the 
Combating Drugs Partnership.

Lack of agreement at a senior level in respect of the geographical 
footprint of the partnership.  The tight timescales mean that this 
must be a priority action

All stakeholders have agreed

4 Agree the terms of reference for 
your local partnerships and your 
governance structure

By 30th September 
2022

See tab for suggested terms of 
reference

Low - will not be able to agree terms of reference until 
geographical footprint and SRO are agreed

Draft terms of reference developed.  
Will be agreed at the first 
partnership meeting.

5 Conduct a joint needs 
assessment, reviewing local drug 
data and evidence

 By 30th November 
2022

Agreement with other LA's and 
lead organisations  on the 
geographical footprint of the 
Combating Drugs Partnership and 
SRO.

Low - will not be able to agree the scope of the needs assessment 
until the geographical footprint of the partnership and SRO are 
agreed.  However the timescales for this are not as short we 
should be able to meet this requirement

Joint Strategic Needs assessment 
has been complete and the local 
Health and Wellbeing Needs 
assessment is underway.  These 
documents will inform the 
development of a local drugs 
strategy

5.1 Agreement with other LA's and 
lead organisations  on the 
geographical footprint of the 
Combating Drugs Partnership and 
SRO.

Identify capacity to complete the 
needs assessment

Low - existing capacity may not be sufficient to complete the 
needs assessment and additional resources may need to be 
identified.  This may mean the recruitment to a temporary post.  
The ability to do this within the current financial envelop will 
depend on the identification of the geographical footprint of the 
partnership. However the timescales for this are not as short we 
should be able to meet this requirement

5.2 By 30th November 
2023 »

Annual review of needs assessment 

6 Agree a local drugs strategy 
delivery plan, including 
developing  data recording and 
sharing

By 31st December 
2022

Completion of the needs 
assessment

Low - all partners will need to fully engage with the development 
of the relevant documents and plans. 

Local drug strategy agreed

6.1 By 31st December 
2022

Agreement within the Combating 
Drugs Partnership in respect of 
what data will be recorded and 
how it will be shared

Low - all partners will need to fully engage with the development 
of the process of data recording and sharing.

Data recording and sharing protocol 
agreed

By 31st December 
2022 DPIA completed

Low - will be completed as part of developing the data recording 
and sharing protocol

 By 31st December 
2023 »

Review of local drug strategy 

7 Ensure that partners agree a 
local performance framework to 
monitor the implementation and 
impact of local plans

31st December 
2022 Combating drug partnership will 

need to develop a local 
performance framework

Low - all partners will need to fully engage in the development of 
the framework 

Performance framework agreed

7.1 31st December 
2022

Monitoring timetable agreed

8 Regularly review progress, 
reflecting on local delivery of the 
strategy and current issues and 
priorities

First progress 
report due 31st 
April 2023 and 
every 12 months 
thereafter

Local performance framework will 
need to have been developed and 
agreed by the partnership.

Low - data will be collected on a monthly basis to inform the 
progress report

Format of progress report agreed

8.1
31st April 2023 Annual performance report 

submitted 

8.2
31st April 2024 » Annual performance report 

submitted 

Timescales

46



When agreeing the membership of the parentship, organisations should ensure that there is 
appropriate representation from a range of perspectives.  As the partnership will be accountable 
for the delivery of the outcomes in the locality, the SRO must be confident that the memberships 
provides representation from key stakeholders, with individuals who are able to make decisions 
and hold each other to account.

It is suggested in the guidance that the SRO should occupy one of the following roles:
*PCC
*Local authority elected leader
*Elected Mayor
*Local authority chief executive
*Director of relevant local authority department (e.g. public health, adults/children's social care, 
housing)
*Regional probation director
Integrated Care Board (ICB) chief executive
*Senior police officer

It is recommended that [partnerships regularly review their own functions and modify their 
structures and approaches accordingly.

The figure below shows the minimum key organisations and individuals that should be 
represented in a Combating Drugs Partnership in England:

Combating 
Drugs 

Partnership

Elected 
members

NHS Strategic 
lead

Local Authority 
Officials 

Job centre plus

Secure estates 
(prisons, young 

offenders 
institution etc.)Substance 

Misuse 
treatment 
providers

People affected 
by drug-related 

harm

National 
Probation 

Service

Police

Police and 
Crime 

Commissioner

47



The local drug strategy SRO should be the key local 'system 
integrator' responsible for ensuring the right local partners come 
together, building strong collective engagement and designing a 
shared local  plan to deliver against the National Combating 
Drugs Outcomes Framework.  The SRO will need to be 
someone who can hold key partners to account, offering 
constructive challenge and support to unblock issues and drive 
system improvements.

The SRO and their teams will be responsible for:

Charing and convening partnership meetings

Encouraging full involvement of local leaders and putting in place the governance structure 
and culture to drive joint, system wide decision making

Overseeing development and delivery of a shared local plan with a whole-system approach 
addressing the three strategic priorities set out in the drug strategy

Unblocking issues across the system

Reporting on the partnership's performance and delivery into central government

Oversee the development of the terms of reference

Oversee the completion of a joint needs assessment

Oversee the development of a local drug  strategy and delivery plan

Oversee the completion of progress reports

48



The partnership will also be expected to 
engage and work with the following:

Combating 
Drugs 

Partnership

Housing 
associations and 

providers of 
supported housing 
and homelessness 

services Fire and rescue 
authorities

Local schools and 
education 
providers

Higher education

Further education Coroners offices

Office for Health 
Improvement and 
Disparities (OHID) 

regional team

Youth offending 
teams

Voluntary, 
community and 
social enterprise 
(VCSE) and other 

community 
organisations

49



Base on the learning from programmes 
such as Changing Futures the 
government recommends the following 
roles are in place to support the SRO and 

Partnership Lead 

•Named lead for overseeing delivery of local programmes and co-ordinating 
partnership e.g. joint commissioning manager for substance misuse 
treatment and recovery services

Public involvement 
lead

•Named lead to ensure the voices of a range of members of the public are 
heard, whether they are people who have lived or living experience of using 
drugs and/or support services, are family members of those who do, or are 
affected by drug-related harm in other ways

Data and digital 
lead

•Named lead on data, data protection, information governance and outcomes 
measurement.

50



The national drug strategy sets out a number of outcomes which are based on the 3 priorities as follows:

Break drug supply chains

 •The number of county lines closed
 •The number of moderate and major disruptions against organised criminals
 •Drug related Homicides
 •Neighbourhood Crime

Potential metrics - under development
Drug trafficking and possession
Proven re-offending
Hospital admissions for assault by a sharp object
Acquisitive crime
Drug seizures
Drug purity
Safeguarding of vulnerable people and young children

Deliver a world-class treatment and recovery system

 •To increase the number of treatment places for adults and young people  by 20% within 3 years 
 •Provide narrative on outline 3-year plans to reduce drug and alcohol related deaths, focusing on:

•   system wide approaches to reduce deaths
•   in and out of treatment populations
•   overdose and drug/alcohol related all-cause mortality
•   how risk is identified and reported
•   how deaths and non-fatal overdoses are reviewed
•   what resources and interventions will be deployed.

51



 •*  Increase the capacity and quality of the drug and alcohol treatment workforce over the next three years. This includes    
recruiting: 

•   800 more medical, mental health and other professionals
•   950 additional drug and alcohol and criminal justice workers
•   adequate commissioning and co-ordinator capacity in every local council

There is a national ambition to ensure 3 in 4 prison leavers with a substance misuse issue are engaging in treatment 3 weeks 
after release by the end of 2023. We have worked with the Ministry of Justice to identify this as a stretching goal to reach that 
will truly shift the dial. To that end,  all local councils and their partners will need to set trajectories to make this a reality. 

 •Over the next 3 years 2% of the local treatment population will be placed into  residential rehab

Achieve a shift in the demand for drugs

proportion of individuals using drugs in the last year
prevalence of Opiate and Crack use

Reducing drug use - metrics currently under development but may include 

drug use in prisons 
drug use in the homelessness population 
impact of drugs on children and families
acceptability of drug use

The government published guidance for local areas in June 2022 on ensuring that they meet the requirements of the national 
strategy.  In that guidance they set out their intention to publish a full outcomes  framework in the summer of 2022

52



The government have identified the following 
principals as central to effective working to reduce 
drug-related harm:

Shared 
Responsibility

Person 
centred 
support

Genuine co-
production

Equality of 
access and 

quality

Joint planningCoordinated 
delivery

Local visibility

Flexibility

long-term 
strategic view

53



Each local area will have a unique mix of circumstance, and so the exact form and 
processes of an individual Combating Drugs Partnership should be determined by 
discussion among local  leaders and residents.

The should include collectively agreeing how the Combating Drugs Partnership 
relates to other relevant groups, organisations, strategies and wider stakeholders, and 
developing a Governance map to explain this.  The figure below demonstrates some 
of the other operational and strategic bodies that the Combating Drugs Partnerships 
will need to define it's partnership with.

Combating 
Drugs 

Partnership

Health & 
Wellbeing 

Board

Community 
Safety

Local 
Criminal 
Justice 
Board

Safeguarding 
board

Violence 
Reduction 

Unit

Domestic 
abuse 

strategic 
group

Integrated 
Care 

Partnership

54



As combating drugs partnership may involve more 
than one local authority area it will be vital to 
establish a localy delivry parternship.  Local 
authorities may also decided to establish sub groups 
to focus on specific areas of work.  Suggestions for 
these sub groups are detailed below.

55



Local areas should develop and agree 
terms of reference specifying:

Scope of 
activity 

• Clarity on decision-making powers and responsibility

Roles
• Of the different partner organisations within the group

Links

• To other relevant groups and partnerships e.g. Community Safety, Health &Wellbeing Boards

Frequency 
& Format

• How often will meetings will be held 
• Physical or Virtual meetings

Delivery
• How will the partnership ensure that the key outcomes in the national drug strategy are delivered

Outcomes • Agree any local outcomes over and above national outcomes

Dispute 
resolution

• Arrangements for managing risks
• Resolving disagreements between partners

56



 

To: The Executive 
20 September 2022 

  
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND SOCIAL CARE OMBUDSMAN 
ANNUAL REVIEW LETTER 

Chief Executive 
 
 
 

1 Purpose of Report 
 

1.1 To provide an overview and commentary of the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman (LGSCO) annual review letter, received July 2022. 
 
 

2 Recommendation 
 

2.1 To note the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s annual review 
letter 2022. 
 
 

3 Reasons for Recommendation 
 

3.1 The annual review letter provides the council with information to help assess the 
council’s performance in handling complaints.  
 

4 Alternative Options Considered 
 

4.1 None considered. 
 
 

5 Supporting Information 
 

5.1 The annual review letter from the LGSCO provides local authorities with an overview 
of the council’s performance in complaint handling, covering the financial year, April 
2021 to March 2022 in this case.   

 
5.2 The overriding message from the LGSCO report is that the council is performance 

almost exactly in line with the average for other organisations. There were only eight 
findings of fault by the LGSCO against the council in the year.  Given that the 
organisation is involved in millions of interactions with residents and businesses each 
year this is a strikingly low number.  Nonetheless, it is important to look seriously at 
those cases where mistakes may have been made so that we can improve further in 
the future.  This report is a part of that process. 
 

5.3 In their commentary, the LGSCO refers to a perceived improvement in his 
relationship with the council this year. The fact that the LGSCO sees an improvement 
is genuinely to be welcomed.  However, it is important to note that the council’s 
approach to complaints and to the LGSCO had not changed during the 2021/22 year.  
The “improvement” simply reflects the position that we have always held and reflects 
the fact that we do handle complaints and LGSCO findings effectively and seriously. 
In the 2021/22 year, we had not found it necessary to challenge the LGSCO’s 
approach and investigations to any significant degree. That too is to be welcomed. 
 

57

Agenda Item 7



 

5.4 The data provided in the review letter is available publicly on the online interactive 
map ‘Your Council’s Performance’.  This information also allows comparison against 
other councils.   

 
5.4 In 2021/22 the LGSCO conducted detailed investigations into 12 cases at Bracknell 

Forest Council, which is four more than the previous year1.  This number is around 
the average compared to the council’s CIPFA neighbours, as illustrated in figure 1.  
The number of complaints a council receives can vary significantly year on year, for 
example in 2020/21, Reading Council had five complaints investigations (12 this 
year) and Milton Keynes Council had 25 last year (18 this year).  

 
Figure 1. Number of detailed investigations conducted by the LGSCO, comparison of CIPFA neighbours. 
 
 
5.5 In 2021/22, eight of the detailed investigations (67%) resulted in the decision to 

uphold the complaint. This is similar to the previous year (63%), aligned with the 
average (64%) and continues to be lower than the average amongst CIPFA 
neighbours as illustrated in figure 2. There is no correlation between the number of 
cases and the rate they are upheld across other authorities, nor a correlation 
between percentage upheld last year compared to this year.  

 
1 During the previous year a lower than usual number of complaints were processed due to the 
coronavirus pandemic. The LGSCO stopped operations for around three months.  

39
18

15
15

14
14
14

12
12
12
12

11
10
10

9
7

Buckinghamshire

Solihull

Windsor and Maidenhead

Stockport

West Berkshire

Thurrock

Bedford Borough

North Somerset

Number of detailed investigations

58

https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance


 

 
Figure 2. Proportion of detailed investigations with upheld complaints, comparison of CIPFA neighbours. 
 
 
5.6 The majority of the upheld complaints were linked to education and children’s 

services which is the case for many upper tier authorities. This was a similar theme 
to last year. In 2021/22 there was an increase in complaints related to Planning & 
Development, with two upheld and two not upheld. This is illustrated in figure 3.  

 

  
Figure 3. Services related to upheld complaints.  

86%

83%

80%

80%

78%

75%

74%

73%

73%

71%

71%

67%

64%

56%

53%

50%

50%

60%

63%

67%

68%

100%

0

80%

55%

69%

67%

63%

75%

63%

91%

56%

Wokingham

Reading

Bedford Borough

Swindon

Milton Keynes

Thurrock

Buckinghamshire

Solihull

South Gloucestershire

Windsor and Maidenhead

Trafford

Bracknell Forest

Stockport

North Somerset

Central Bedfordshire

West Berkshire

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 120%

2020/2021 2021/22

Percentage of investigated complaints upheld

4, 33% 8, 67%

5, 42%

2, 17%

1, 8%

Not Upheld

Education & Children's Services

Planning & Development

Environmental Services & Public 
Protection & Regulation

Upheld Complaints

UpheldUpheld

59



 

 
 
5.7 A summary of the upheld decisions is included in annex A. The summaries illustrate 

some themes to the complaints, particularly related to Special Educational Needs 
(SEN). Lessons continue to be taken from the findings and the service has put in 
place improvements to address conclusions where there has been the opportunity to 
develop the service. 

 
5.8  The higher number of complaints last year in areas such as blue badges has not 

been repeated, showing good service improvement.  
 
5.9 In seven cases, the outcome of the investigation required implementation of the 

LGSCO’s recommendations.  Bracknell Forest Council complied in 100% of these 
cases. 

 
5.10 The LGSCO encourages councils to use these figures as the start of a conversation, 

and not an absolute measure of the health of the organisation.  The council is 
continuing to review the approach to managing corporate complaints, taking into 
consideration the findings within the LGSCO’s letter.  

 
5.11 Since last year’s letter, the council has put in place additional resourcing to manage 

complaints effectively. This aligns well with the recommendations set out in the letter 
for all councils to review the capacity and visibility of complaints handling.  

 
5.12 The LGSCO are unsighted on Stage 1 and 2 complaints so the Executive are 

reminded that Bracknell Forest Council takes all complaints seriously and looks to 
resolve complaints at stage 1 or 2 of the complaints process wherever possible to 
prevent them escalating any further.  Complaints and their outcomes are monitored 
through the Quarterly Service Reports (QSRs).   

 
 
6 Consultation and Other Considerations 

 
 Legal Advice 
 
6.1 The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) is the independent 

body responsible for investigating complaints made against public bodies where it is 
alleged that there has been maladministration causing injustice.  

 
The LGSCO can only investigate claims where there has been an allegation of 
maladministration by a public body that has caused personal injustice to the 
complainant. 
 
There is no specific definition of "maladministration", but it can include cases where a 
public body has taken, or has failed to take, action.  If there has been no 
maladministration, the LGSCO cannot investigate; it is only allowed to investigate the 
procedure behind the decision-making.  This means that the LGSCO will not 
investigate cases where the complainant merely disagrees with a decision that a 
public body has made. Maladministration is concerned with the manner in which 
public body decisions were reached and the ways that they were or were not 
implemented; it is not concerned with the decision itself.  
 
Once maladministration has been established, it must be confirmed that it has led to 
personal injustice for the complainant.  Injustice can include: 
 

60



 

• The time and trouble involved in pursuing a complaint against a public body. 
• The loss of a right or service, which the complainant is legitimately entitled to. 
• Costs associated with pursuing the complaint. 
• Inconvenience, worry, distress, and hurt feelings. 

 
It must also be proved that the injustice was caused by the public body and was not 
merely incidental. 
 
Financial Advice 
 

6.2 There are no financial implications arising from this report.  
 
 Other Consultation Responses 
6.3 None 
 

Equalities Impact Assessment 
 

6.4 There are no direct impact issues to be considered. 
 

Strategic Risk Management Issues 
 

6.5 The information the LGSCO reports to the council in its annual letter is publicly 
available. It is imperative that the council continues to review complaints 
management information and has in place a robust complaint handling procedure to 
resolve complaints and ensure procedures are complied to.  

 
 
 
Background Papers 
 
LGSCO Annual Review Letter 2022 
 
Contact for further information 
Katie Flint - Policy and Performance Lead, Chief Executive’s Office: 01344 352217 
Katie.flint@bracknell-forest.gov.uk  
 
Jen Lawson – Head of Complaints, Delivery: 01344 353071 
Jen.lawson@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
 
  

61

https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance/bracknell-forest-council/annualletters/
mailto:Katie.flint@bracknell-forest.gov.uk
mailto:Jen.lawson@bracknell-forest.gov.uk


 

Annex A – Summary of upheld decisions 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 

 
 

Service area: Blue Badges 5 May 2021 
Mrs X complains the Council failed to properly consider an application she made for a blue 
badge for her son. We found the initial explanation of the Council’s decision was lacking in 
detail, but we found the decision the Council ultimately made not to grant a blue badge was 
one it was entitled to reach. We recommended the Council should improve the way it 
documents its approach to considering applications. 
Service area: Special educational needs 11 June 2021 
Mr X complains the Council failed to provide full time education for his son. He also 
complains the Council failed to find his son a school place and delayed in completing an 
EHC assessment. We find fault with the Council for not issuing the final EHC plan within the 
statutory deadline. However, the fault did not cause any significant injustice. We also find 
fault with the Council for not properly considering whether part time education was more 
suitable for the child. We have made recommendations. 
Service area: Special educational needs 7 June 2021 
Ms X complains the Council reviewed her son’s Education, Health and Care Plan but then 
refused to recognise it as a review, which denied her a right of appeal to a tribunal. We 
uphold the complaint, finding the Council’s reasons for not recognising the review being 
incompatible with relevant legislation and guidance. We recommend the Council apologises, 
pays Ms X £250 for denying her a right of appeal to a tribunal and undertakes training with 
its staff. 
Service area: Planning 29 November 2021 
Mr X complained the Council failed to properly deal with planning applications by his 
neighbour and failed to properly respond to reports of noise and parking issues. We found 
there was some fault in the consideration of noise reports. The Council apologised for this. 
We found no fault in the decisions on Mr X’s neighbour’s planning applications. 
Service area: Planning 26 January 2022 
Mr X said the Council was at fault for underestimating the impact on his property of an 
extension on his neighbour’s house. He also said it wrongly accepted his neighbour’s 
application to amend a planning application using the wrong legislation. The Council was at 
fault for accepting an application to amend the plans using the wrong legislation. This 
caused Mr X injustice as he was put to time and trouble researching the law. However, the 
Council was not at fault for its consideration of the impact of the extension. The Council has 
agreed to pay Mr C a sum in recognition of the injustice caused. 
Service area:  Special educational needs 10 February 2022 
The complainant said the Council significantly delayed issuing her son’s Educational and 
Health Care Plan (EHCP) and failed to communicate with her throughout the process. The 
Council has accepted it was at fault and has agreed to remedy the injustice. 
Service area: Complaints 9 March 2022 
Ms X complains the Council failed to complete the recommendations made at stage two and 
three of the children statutory complaint procedure. Ms X said this caused her significant 
distress. We find some fault with the Council for the delays in completing some of the 
recommendations. We have made some recommendations for the Council to remedy the 
injustice caused. 
Service area: Environmental Health - Noise 14 March 2022 
The complainant said the Council failed to investigate a noise nuisance correctly which 
caused her distress. She said the noise from her neighbour’s flat affected her health. She 
also complained about the way the Council dealt with her complaint. We found fault only with 
the way the Council handled this complaint. We have made recommendations. 

62



To: The Executive 
 20 September 2022 
  

 
Council Plan Overview Report 

Chief Executive  
 

1 Purpose of Report 
1.1 To inform the Executive of the performance of the council over the first quarter of the 

2022/23 financial year (April-June 2022). 

2 Recommendation 
2.1 To note the performance of the council over the period from April-June 2022 

highlighted in the Overview Report in Annex A.  

3 Reasons for Recommendation 
3.1 To brief the Executive on the council’s performance, highlighting key areas, so that 

appropriate action can be taken if needed. 

4 Alternative Options Considered 
4.1 None applicable. 

5 Supporting Information 
Quarterly Service Reports 

5.1 The council’s performance management framework provides for the preparation of 
Quarterly Service Reports (QSRs) by each department. These QSRs provide an 
update of progress and performance against departmental Service Plans and are 
published on the council website.  

 Council Plan Overview Report 
5.2 The QSRs have been combined into the Council Plan Overview Report (CPOR), which 

brings together the progress and performance of the council as an organization. The 
CPOR enables the Corporate Management Team and the Executive to review 
performance, highlight any exceptions and note any remedial actions that may be 
necessary, either from under-performing or over-performing services, across the range 
of council activities. 
Overview & Scrutiny 

5.3 The CPOR will also be considered by Overview & Scrutiny. This process enables all 
Members to be involved in performance management. 

5.4 The CPOR for the first quarter (April-June 2022) is shown in Annex A. 
 

6 Advice Received from Statutory and Other Officers 
Legal Advice 

6.1 There are no specific legal implications relevant to this report.  
Financial Advice 

6.2 There are no specific finance implications relevant to this report. 
Other Consultation Responses 

63

Agenda Item 8



6.3 None specific 
Equalities Impact Assessment 

6.4 This report does not require an equalities impact assessment as this is a management 
reporting tool.  
Strategic Risk Management Issues  

6.5 There are no specific strategic risk implications relevant to this report. 
Climate Change Implications 

6.6 The recommendations in Section 2 above are expected to have no impact on 
emissions of CO2. The reasons the Council believes that this will have no impact on 
emissions are that this is a management reporting tool. 
Health & Wellbeing Considerations 

6.7 There are no specific health and wellbeing implications relevant to this report. 

Background Papers 
QSR – Chief Executive Directorates – Quarter 1 2022-23 
QSR – People Directorate – Quarter 1 2022-23 
QSR – Delivery Directorate – Quarter 1 2022-23 
QSR – Resources Directorates – Quarter 1 2022-23 
QSR – Place Planning & Regeneration Directorates – Quarter 1 2022-23 
 
 
Contact for further information 
Katie Flint, Chief Executive’s Office - 01344 342217 
katie.flint@bracknell-forest.gov.uk  
 
Varad Paranjape, Chief Executive’s Office – 01344 352174 
Varad.Paranjape@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
 
 
 

64

mailto:katie.flint@bracknell-forest.gov.uk
Varad.Paranjape@bracknell-forest.gov.uk


  Annex A 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
COUNCIL PLAN 
OVERVIEW 
REPORT  
 
 

 
 
 
 
Q1 2022- 23 
April – June 2022 
 
 
Chief Executive: 
Timothy Wheadon 

65



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 2 

Contents 
 
Section 1: Chief Executive’s Commentary ...............................................................................2 
Section 2: Budget Position .......................................................................................................7 
Section 3: Strategic Themes ..................................................................................................11 

Value for money .................................................................................................................11 
Economic resilience ...........................................................................................................13 
Education and skills ............................................................................................................14 
Caring for you and your family ...........................................................................................17 
Protecting and enhancing our environment ........................................................................19 

Section 4: Corporate Health ...................................................................................................23 
a) Summary of People ........................................................................................................23 
b) Summary of Complaints .................................................................................................25 
c) Strategic Risks and Audits .............................................................................................26 

 
 
 
Key  
 

 Performance is good or on-track 

 Performance is causing concern 

 Performance is weak or not achieving as expected 

 RAG rating not applicable  

 Missing data 

 
Missing target 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

66



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 3 

Section 1: Chief Executive’s Commentary 
 
1 Introduction  
 
1.1 This report sets out an overview of the council’s performance for the first quarter of 

2022/23 (April - June 2022). It reports on the progress of delivering the commitments 
set out in the Council Plan. The purpose is to formally provide the Executive with a 
high-level summary of key achievements, and to highlight areas where performance 
was not matching targets or expectations, along with any remedial action that is 
being taken.  It complements the detailed directorate Quarterly Service Reports 
(QSRs). 
 

1.2 This is the first quarterly report of the 2022/23 financial year, and it reflects the 
changes made to the list of service plan actions as part of our annual service plan 
refresh.  As part of this refresh, the previous COVID-19 activities have been 
absorbed into business as usual. With the new actions in place, at the end of the first 
quarter progress showed:  
 
Out of all 118 Actions-  
 

• 109 are in progress with 88 having Green RAG and 19 Amber.  
• 8 Actions are completed with Green RAG. 
• Only 1 Action has not yet started but this is on track as it has a Green RAG.  

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Missing Data, 3
Not started, 1

Completed, 8

109 
In Progress

Red , 0

Amber, 19

Green, 87

Missing Data Not started Completed Red Amber Green

Actions Status 

67



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 4 

 
 

 
1.3 Indicators have continued to be included in this quarters CPOR, however as the 

majority of these were established at the start of the council plan period, in 2019, 
many are no longer particularly relevant to measuring effective performance. For Q1 
there were 57 indicators presented. The status for the key indicators in the Council 
Plan in the first quarter is: 
 
 

 
     
1.4  Section 3 of this report contains more information on the performance indicators and 

measures across the council for each of the strategic themes.  Again, the picture was 
positive despite the continued turbulence of COVID-19 and growing national 
economic pressures.   

 
 
 

2.             Overview of Q1 and highlights  
 
2.1 Teams continued to deliver services to a high standard during the period. I have 

highlighted here a small selection of examples from across the organisation. 
 
2.2  Staff continue to work mostly from home, though an increasing number are starting to 

return to the office. The office was formally reopened to the public from 4 April 2022 
and staff have been increasingly using the new facilities such as the Forest Café.  

 
2.3 Across the council, teams have been involved in the local response to the Ukraine 

conflict and the arrivals under both the Family Visa Scheme and the Homes for 
Ukraine scheme. At the end of Q1, 82 guests had arrived, with another 71 expected, 
mainly staying with local families in ‘sponsorship’ arrangements. Multiple new 
processes had to be established in a short timescale, to meet the requirements of 
central government. Close partnership working has been in place with all Berkshire 
unitary authorities. Links have continued to be strengthened through community 
engagement and with the voluntary and community sector.  

 
2.4 Several highly successful events were held in the town centre during Q1. In the 

Easter holidays, the Forest Springs event included art installations and interactive 
activities which received a positive public and media response. There was also a 

7
6

23

13

1

7

Red Amber Green Monitoring only Not started Missing data 

Indicators status

68



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 5 

series of events over the Platinum Jubilee weekend, including live music, which 
further increased the footfall and engagement with the town centre.  

 
2.5 Another notable milestone was the opening of the Heathlands facilities by His Royal 

Highness the Duke of Gloucester on 17 May. The site provides specialist services to 
patients with intermediate care and dementia care needs, all under one roof. It has 
been a successful partnership project between Bracknell Forest Council, Frimley 
CCG, Frimley Health NHS Foundation Trust and Windsor Care, allowing health and 
care staff to work together to benefit local people. 

 
2.6 Looking more broadly at health, the new Health and Wellbeing Strategy was 

approved and published in Q1. This is another example of the close working between 
the council, health and the voluntary and community sector which sets out vision for 
the future health and wellbeing of Bracknell Forest residents. It aims to drive positive 
change by reducing health inequalities and improving the health of people who live, 
work and study in the borough. This new strategy will guide activity for the next four 
years and focus on six areas of priority.  

 
2.7 · With the People directorate services, Ofsted undertook a face-to-face inspection of 

the Children's Services under the ILACS framework in early June. The inspection 
took place over two weeks looking at the effectiveness of leadership and 
management and the impact and outcomes of front-line services for children and 
families, as well as progress made since the last time we were inspected. The 
outcomes report was subsequently published at the end of July and showed that the 
overall effectiveness of our children’s services is “outstanding” – the highest rating 
possible and one not achieved by many Councils.  To have moved from “good” (with 
outstanding features) in 2017 to overall “outstanding” in 2022 through the challenges 
of the pandemic has certainly been a magnificent achievement. 

 
2.8 In June the council was also recognised as Local Authority of the Year in the South-

East Regional Energy Efficiency Awards. This award recognises and celebrates the 
energy best practice shown by the council including: 

• conducting improvement work to the borough’s most fuel inefficient homes, almost 
700 households in the past year 

• consulting with new developments in the borough to ensure they meet renewable 
energy requirements 

• bidding for government grants to fund future improvement work, such as insulation 
and cavity walls to make homes in the borough more energy efficient 

• identifying homes still using electric storage heaters and connecting them to the 
mains gas network 
Through the council’s efforts, Bracknell Forest has now been named as having the 
5th lowest number of people in fuel poverty in the UK and efforts will continue to 
reduce this further. 

 
2.9 Internally, the significant infrastructure project to transfer the council’s telephony to 

Microsoft Teams has now been completed. Feedback from staff has been positive 
with no negative impact on council operations during the transfer. This provides more 
effective use of the existing Microsoft package. 

 
2.10 Further internal developments have included the refresh and relaunch of the council’s 

values. The simplified values focus on being “Inclusive, Ambitious and Always 
Learning”. These are being integrated across various branding and guidance 
including within the 2022 appraisals, job adverts and the newly developed ‘learning 
hub’.  

 

69



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 6 

2.11 In picking out these highlights there is a real danger of overlooking the special efforts 
of teams who are not mentioned.  The simple fact is that the whole organisation 
continues to deliver significant progress and effective services. 

 
What are we doing about things not going so well? 

 
3.1 COVID-19 has continued to prove a challenge to services, as the case numbers were 

very high during Q1. This impacted staff sickness levels however, in the main, 
services were able to continue operating. The council has extended the offer of free 
LFT to encourage all staff to test before coming to their place of work. There also 
continues to have access to hand sanitiser and desk wipes throughout the office. 
This aims to minimise the risk of transmission between staff and therefore containing 
the wider spread as well.  

 
3.2 The February 2022 Ofsted report into the council’s and our partners special 

educational needs and disability services focused the priority to develop a Written 
Statement of Action (WSOA). This was created with partners and service users to 
detail our plans for improvement. The WSOA was submitted to Ofsted in June and 
accepted without the need for any further amendments. This again is unusual, but 
indicative of the strong commitment and effective plan for improvement. Delivering 
these improvements will continue to be a focus for the council and partners over this 
coming year. 

 
 
Forward Look 
 
Going forward, the council’s strategic objectives will continue to progress in the coming 
months albeit within the context of the council’s continued resilience to COVID-19 and in the 
context of the national economic challenges. It is likely that Q2 will continue to bring 
pressures around staff sickness, increasing cost of services and products and uncertainty 
related to national political and economic changes.  
 
 
 
 
 
Timothy Wheadon 
Chief Executive 

70



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 7 

Section 2: Budget Position   
REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 
 

The monthly monitoring returns are set out in detail in each directorate’s Quarterly Service 
Report (QSR).   

The returns include estimated best- and worst-case scenarios which reflect actual 
expenditure to date plus a range of financial predictions from Assistant Directors covering 
the remainder of the year. Across the Council, variances have been identified indicating 
expenditure is below the approved budget (-£1.950m Best Case and -£0.704m Worst Case) 
after taking into account the Corporate Contingency £1.833m.  

Inflation is a key risk to the budget, particularly the pay award where the initial offer of a 
£1,925 pay rise is significantly above the 2% allowance we have made. To meet additional 
inflationary costs, we have the remaining Corporate Contingency plus a new earmarked 
reserve created at the end of 2021/22 of £1.5m, specifically to help mitigate against 
inflationary cost increases. 

Key information around directorate variances being reported follows.  

 

 

71



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 8 

 

 

72



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 9 

 

 

73



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

74



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 11 

Section 3: Strategic Themes 
 

Value for money 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

75



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 12 

 
 
 

76



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 13 

Economic resilience 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

82.0%

82.0%

77



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 14 

Education and skills 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

82.0%

82.0%

82.0%

78



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 15 

 

79



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 16 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

80



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 17 

Caring for you and your family 

 

81



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 18 

 

 

 
 

 
 

82



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 19 

Protecting and enhancing our environment 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

83



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 20 

 
 

84



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 21 

Communities 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

85



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 22 

 
 
 
 

 
 

86



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2022/23  Page 23 

Section 4: Corporate Health  
 
a) Summary of People  
 

Staff Voluntary Turnover 
 

Department Previous 
Figure* 

For the last 
4 quarters Notes 

People 15% 15.17%  

Delivery 13.22% 11.23%  

Resources 11.82% 12.22%  

PPR 12.16% 13.45%  

Chief Executive’s Office 10.91% 19.57%  

Total Voluntary Turnover 13.83% 14.22%  
    * This figure relates to the previous 4 quarters and is taken from the preceding CPOR.  
 

Comparator data % 
Total voluntary turnover for BFC, 21/22:                         13.83% 

Average voluntary turnover rate UK public sector 2020:                     8.8% 

Average Local Government England voluntary turnover 2020:   10% 

    (Source: XPertHR Labour Turnover Rates 2021 and LGA Workforce Survey 2021) 
 
 
Staff Sickness 
 

 

Department 
Quarter 1 

22/23 (days 
per employee) 

Previous Financial 
Year (Actual 

Average days per 
employee) 

2022/23 Estimated 
Annual Average 

(days per 
employee) 

Notes 

People 2.39 8.03 9.56  

Delivery 2.73 7.02 10.92  

PPR 1.94 3.69 7.76  

Resources 1.51 6.76 6.04  

Chief Executive’s 
Office 0.83 4.98 3.32 

 

Total staff 
sickness excluding 
maintained 
schools 

2.24 6.94 8.96 

 

 
 
 

87



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2022/23  Page 24 

Comparator data All employees, average days 
sickness absence per employee 

Bracknell Forest Council (Non-Schools) 21/22                        6.94 

Public Sector employees 2021       6.4 

(Source: ONS Sickness absence in the UK labour market) 
 
People 
 
Absence this quarter is lower than last quarter. Long term sickness equates to 59% of the 
total absence this quarter which is slightly higher than last quarter.  Covid-19 levels are on 
the decrease equating to 14% of the absence this quarter compared to 26% last. 

 
Delivery 
 
Absence levels within the department have once again increased since the last quarter.  this 
quarter the number of days lost has risen by 9% to 511 working days.  Customer Experience 
levels have risen by 26% since the last quarter. 

Long term sickness equates to 56% of the absence which is similar to last quarter. Covid-19 
levels are also similar to last quarter with 22% of absence this quarter. 
 
 
Place, Planning and Regeneration 
 
Absence has almost doubled since last quarter with increases in all areas except Planning 
and the Shared Public Health Team.   

Long term sickness equates to 48% of the total sickness which is up from 10% last quarter, 
in particular this was an issue in Building Control. 

Covid-19 equates to 21% of the total sickness absence which is lower than last quarter. 

Resources 
 
Sickness levels within the Department have stayed pretty similar since the last quarter.  

Long term sickness equates to 52% of the total sickness this quarter while Covid-19 is 
attributable for 43% of the total sickness. 

Chief Executive’s Office 
 
Absence has decreased since the last quarter.   

There was no long-term sickness within the Department this quarter.  Covid-19 equates to 
69% of the total absence this quarter which is much higher than last quarter. 

 

 

 

88



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2022/23  Page 25 

Complaints 
 

 
b) Summary of Complaints  
 
 
People: Adults 
There were 13 complaints in quarter 1.  Compared to this time last year, this is one more.  
 
People: Childrens 
There were 25 complaints in quarter 1.  Compared to this time last year, the figure is up from 
18. This is 7 more.   
 
Central 
There were 6 complaints in quarter 1.  Compared to this time last year, the figure is down 
from 11.  This is 5 less.   
 
 
 

Department Type of 
complaint Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Total 
cumulative 
complaints 

Outcome of all complaints 
received year to date 

Statutory 

13    13 

4 – upheld/fully substantiated 
5 – partially upheld/partially 
substantiated 
4 – not upheld/not 
substantiated 

People: Adults 

Local 
Government 
Ombudsman 

0     

 

Statutory stage 1 

23    23 

4 – in progress 
4 – upheld/fully substantiated 
6 – partially upheld/partially 
substantiated 
6 – not upheld/not 
substantiated 
2 - no finding made 
1 – proceeded to stage 2 

Statutory stage 2 1    1 1 – in progress 
Statutory stage 3 0    0 

 

Stage 2 1    1 1 - in progress 
Stage 3 0    0 

 

People: Childrens 

Local 
Government 
Ombudsman 

0    0 
  

Stage 2 1    1 1 - partially  
Stage 3 0    0  

People: Housing 
Local 
Government 
Ombudsman 0    0 

 
 
 
 
 

Stage 2 1    1 1 – in progress 
Stage 3 2    2 2 – not upheld 

Central 

Local 
Government 
Ombudsman 

3    3 
1 – in progress 
2 – not upheld 

Stage 2 1    1 1 – not upheld 
Stage 3 0    0  

Delivery 

Local 
Government 
Ombudsman 

0    0 
 

89



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2022/23  Page 26 

Delivery 
There was 1 complaint in quarter 1.  Compared to this time last year, the figure is up by 1 
from none. 
 
 

c) Strategic Risks and Audits  
 
During quarter 1 the Register was reviewed by the Strategic Risk Management Group on 
12th May 2022.  The following observations were made;  

• the COVID-related risk on staffing and service delivery could be reduced, given that 
absence levels were below historic figures 

• there were recruitment and retention difficulties in a number of key areas, which were 
being reviewed in detail by HR&OD to identify possible solutions 

• there was an increased risk of cyber-attacks given global events, which had 
prompted a review of cyber support arrangements  
 

The latest position on internal audits was included in the Head of Audit and Risk 
Management’s annual report presented to the Governance and Audit Committee on 22nd 
June 2022. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

90



Document is Restricted

91

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of 
Regulation 4 of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2012.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

95

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of 
Regulation 4 of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2012.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

101

By virtue of 
Regulation 4 of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2012.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

109

By virtue of 
Regulation 4 of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2012.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

115

By virtue of 
Regulation 4 of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2012.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

119

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of 
Regulation 4 of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2012.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

123

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of 
Regulation 4 of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2012.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Integrated Enforcement Overview and Scrutiny Review
	Integrated Enforcement Report
	EIA (2)

	6 National Drug Strategy – From Harm to Hope
	National Drug Strategy Annexe a
	About
	Notes & guidance
	Investment
	Capacity
	Drug and alcohol deaths
	Workforce
	Continuity of care
	Resi rehab
	Outline plan
	Detailed plan 2022-23
	Menu of interventions

	National Drug Strategy Annexe b

	7 Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman's Annual Letter
	To:	The Executive

	8 Quarter 1 Council Plan Overview Report
	CPOR Q1 Apr-Jun 2022-23 (Updated)
	Section 1: Chief Executive’s Commentary
	Section 2: Budget Position
	Section 3: Strategic Themes
	Value for money
	Economic resilience
	Education and skills
	Caring for you and your family
	Protecting and enhancing our environment

	Section 4: Corporate Health
	a) Summary of People
	b) Summary of Complaints
	c) Strategic Risks and Audits



	10 Allocation of S106 Commuted Sum Monies (Bay House and Barn Close)
	11 Lease of the unit in Princess Square for the Library
	Exec 20-09-22 Appendix A
	HOTs - LSU4 - Library - 1.09.22v2
	Bracknell Library Impact Assessment

	12 Depot (surplus land) Exclusivity period extension
	13 Greening Energy Use Reducing Energy Costs

